
PERSONNEL AND GENERAL 
PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE

AGENDA

Date: Wednesday, 27th February, 2019

Time: 7.00 pm

Venue: Guildhall



2

PERSONNEL AND GENERAL PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE 

Information for Members of the Public

Access to the Guildhall is via the front entrance in the High Street.  The nearest car park is 
Copenhagen Street (pay and display). If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility, access 
to the Guildhall can be gained either through the door on the right side of the forecourt as you face 
the Guildhall, or through the sliding doors at the rear of the Guildhall. There is dedicated disabled 
parking space at the rear (access via Copenhagen Street). Most meetings are held on the ground 
floor, which can be reached by using a lift.  If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility 
and you wish to attend a meeting, please telephone or email the officer mentioned below in advance 
and we will make any necessary arrangements to assist your visit.

Part I of the Agenda includes items for discussion in public.  You have the right to inspect copies of 
Minutes and reports on this part of the Agenda as well as background documents used in the 
preparation of these reports. Details of the background papers appear at the foot of each report. Part 
II of the Agenda (if applicable) deals with items of 'Exempt Information' for which it is anticipated that 
the public may be excluded from the meeting and neither reports nor background papers are open to 
public inspection.

Please note that this is a public meeting and members of the public and press are permitted to report 
on the proceedings. "Reporting" includes filming, photographing, making an audio recording and 
providing commentary on proceedings. Any communicative method can be used to report on the 
proceedings, including the internet, to publish, post or share the proceedings. Accordingly, the 
attendance of members of the public at this meeting may be recorded and broadcast. By choosing to 
attend this public meeting you are deemed to have given your consent to being filmed or recorded 
and for any footage to be broadcast or published.  

Please note the Council audio records and live streams many of its meetings. These recordings are 
published on the relevant meeting pages of the Council’s website. A notice to this effect will be posted 
in the meeting room. If a member of the public chooses to speak at a meeting of the City Council 
he/she will be deemed to have given their consent to being recorded and audio being published live to 
the Council’s website. The Chairman of the meeting, can at their discretion, terminate or suspend 
recording, if in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice the proceedings of the meeting or if 
they consider that continued recording might infringe the rights of any individual, or breach any 
statutory provision.

At the start of the meeting under the item 'Public Participation' up to fifteen minutes in total is allowed 
for members of the public to present a petition, ask a question or comment on any matter on the 
Agenda.  Participants need to indicate that they wish to speak by 4.30 p.m. on the last 
working day before the meeting by writing, telephoning or E-Mailing the officer mentioned 
below.

If you have any general enquires or queries about this Agenda or require any details of background 
papers, further documents or information, or to discuss arrangements for the taking of photographs, 
film, video or sound recording, please contact the Lead Officer, Julian Pugh, Democratic Services 
Administrator, Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY.  Telephone: 01905 722027 (direct line); E-
Mail Address:  committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk.

This agenda can be made available in large print, braille, on PC disk, tape or in a number of ethnic 
minority languages.  Please contact the above named officer for further information.

Agendas and minutes relating to all City Council Committees and Council Meetings are also available 
electronically, click on the option “Committee Minutes and Documents”, Website Address: 
worcester.gov.uk

mailto:committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk


3

Personnel and General Purposes Sub-Committee
Wednesday, 27 February 2019

Members of the Sub-Committee:-

Chairman: Councillor Louis Stephen (G)
Vice-Chairman: Councillor Marc Bayliss (C) and Councillor Adrian Gregson (L)

Councillor Roger Berry (LCo)
Councillor Mrs. Lucy Hodgson (C)

Councillor Chris Mitchell (C)
Councillor Joy Squires (L)

C= Conservative G = Green L = Labour LCo = Labour and Co-Operative

AGENDA

Part 1
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC)

1. Appointment of Substitutes To receive details of any Members 
appointed to attend the meeting instead of 
a Member of the Sub-Committee.

2. Declarations of Interest To receive any declarations of interest.

3. Public Participation Up to a total of fifteen minutes can be 
allowed, each speaker being allocated a 
maximum of five minutes, for members of 
the public to present a petition, ask a 
question or comment on any matter on the 
Agenda or within the remit of the Sub-
Committee.

4. Minutes 
Page(s): 1 - 6

Of the meeting held on 12th December 
2018 to be approved and signed.

5. Health & Safety Policy - 
Nomination of Lead Member for 
Health and Safety 
Page(s): 7 - 44
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Kevin Moore, 

Head of Property 
and Asset 
Management
Tel: 01905 
722251

That the Sub-Committee agrees on the 
nomination of a Lead Member for Health 
and Safety to be appointed at the Annual 
Council meeting in May 2019.



4

6. Purchase of Additional Annual 
Leave 
Page(s): 45 - 50
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Mark Edwards, 

Head of People 
Services
Tel: 01905 
722042

That the Sub-Committee approves the 
Purchase of Additional Leave Policy.

7. Sickness Absence Management 
Policy 
Page(s): 51 - 66
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Mark Edwards, 

Head of People 
Services
Tel: 01905 
722042

That this revised Sickness Absence 
Management Policy is approved by this 
Sub-Committee.

8. Review of Decision Making on 
Voluntary Redundancies 
Page(s): 67 - 68
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Mark Edwards, 

Head of People 
Services
Tel: 01905 
722042

That the Sub-Committee agrees to the 
proposed changes to the Council’s policy on 
voluntary redundancy decision making.

9. Annual Safeguarding Update 
Page(s): 69 - 84
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Mark Edwards, 

Head of People 
Services
Tel: 01905 
722042

That the Sub-Committee notes the Council 
progress and current position with regard 
to our safeguarding responsibilities.

10. Any Other Business Which in the opinion of the Chairman is of 
sufficient urgency as to warrant 
consideration.



PERSONNEL AND GENERAL PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE

12th December 2018

Present: Councillor Louis Stephen in the Chair

Councillors A. Amos, Berry, Biggs, Gregson 
(Vice-Chairman), Mrs L. Hodgson and 
Mitchell

Officers: David Blake, Managing Director
Shane Flynn, Corporate Director –
Finance and Resources
Mark Edwards, Head of People Services
Kevin Moore, Head of Property and Asset 
Management

51 Appointment of Substitutes 

Councillor A. Amos for Councillor Bayliss. Councillor Biggs for Councillor J. 
Squires.

52 Declarations of Interest 

None.

53 Public Participation 

None.

54 Minutes 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meetings held on 11th July 2018 and 
9th October 2018 be approved as a correct record and signed by the 
Chairman.

55 Health and Safety Policy 

The Sub-Committee considered an updated Health and Safety Policy. The  Head of 
Property and Asset Management presented the report and explained that the 
Policy had been reviewed, redrafted and updated to be able to stand up to 
external scrutiny and to be clearer on roles and responsibilities. He summarised 
the main points and responded to questions from Sub-Committee Members.

With reference to the appointment of a Member to take the lead on health and 
safety matters, Officers proposed that a nomination be considered at the next 
meeting of the Sub-Committee. This nomination would then be reported to the 
Annual Council meeting in May 2019, at which a formal appointment would be 
made. It would be helpful if nominee was a member of the Sub-Committee, but 
this was not essential.

Sub-Committee Members expressed for both the updated Policy and the proposed 
way forward on the appointment of a Member to take the lead on health and 
safety matters.

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



12th December 2018 2

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee agree to:

1. approve the updated Health and Safety Policy; and

2. consider the nomination of a Lead Member for Health and Safety at 
the next meeting.

56 Options Paper for Annual Pay Award 

The Sub-Committee considered a report on options for the annual pay award. The 
Head of People Services presented the report and explained that earlier this year 
the Local Government Association announced a 2 year deal which in year 1 (2018-
19) amounted to either a fixed amount on the lower pay points or a 2% increase 
for those higher up.  In year 2 however (from April 2019) there was a 
fundamental change in the way the NJC pay spine is made up as it starts at a 
newly defined scp1 (previously scp6&7). This starts at £9.00 per hour and each 
scp is in equal 2% increments thereafter.

In order to keep to the sprit of the award, the equivalent percentage increase had 
been mapped to the Worcester City pay spine to show an equivalent pay rise 
which is weighted at the lower pay end (giving pay rises of up to 7.13% at the 
lower end of the pay scale and 2% for those on scp29 and above). This will allow 
the Council to easily map future increases with the NJC scheme and keep in line 
with the Council’s commitment to honour future NJC scheme increases.  

There were a few other simple changes that could be made to the current 
Worcester pay spine to improve the fit between our current pay structure and the 
wider NJC changes. These were detailed in the report.

The final option was whether (A) to move across to the new pay chart and then 
apply incremental progression or (B) to apply incremental progression through a 
grade and then map across to the new pay structure.  Option A would result in 90 
people being better off and 40 people being worse off compared to option B.  
Worse off was a relative concept in this case with no one actually worse off as a 
consequence of this proposal.  

In the ensuing discussion, the following main points were made:

 UNISON locally were happy with the proposals, but had referred the matter to 
their national office. A response had now been received, indicating they too 
were content.

 It was clarified that the lowest rate is above the real living wage.

Sub-Committee Members expressed support for the proposals.

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee agree to the proposed refinement of 
the Council’s pay and grading structure to keep it aligned with the 
National Pay Award and changes to the NJC Pay Spine from April 2019.

Page 2



12th December 2018 3

57 Local Conditions - Victims of Domestic Abuse 

The Head of People Services reported that, at the Council meeting on 30th October 
2018, the following notice of motion had been approved:

“Council is concerned about the growing rates of reported domestic abuse in 
Worcester and the UK as a whole and wishes to offer our own employees help to 
escape any abuse and/or violence. Council asks Officers to present a report to 
Personnel and General Purposes Committee to consider amending relevant 
policies including granting our employees who are victims of domestic abuse ten 
days' paid leave to allow them to leave their partners, find new homes and to 
protect themselves and their children.”

Therefore, it was proposed to update the Local Conditions in section 5.3 b) to read 
as follows:

“Victims of Domestic Abuse
In addition to the above special leave provisions an employee who is the victim of 
domestic abuse and decides to separate from the abuser may be granted up to 10 
days paid leave by approval of the Head of People Services to assist with 
protecting themselves and their children and securing new accommodation.”

The Head of People Services responded to questions from Sub-Committee 
Members. He explained that, due to the sensitive nature of such requests, they 
would be dealt with by him personally.

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee approve this revised version of the 
Local Conditions.

58 Regrading Claims Process 

The Head of People Services presented a report on a proposed regrading claims 
process. He explained that, as part of the introduction of the Council’s new pay 
structure in January 2017, it was agreed that for a period of time there would be 
no requirement for re-examining the appropriateness of the grading given to any 
existing roles. It was almost two years on from the introduction of the new pay 
structure and it was considered appropriate to once again offer employees a 
process for challenging the appropriateness of the grade assigned to their work. 

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee approve the Regrading Claims 
Process attached at Appendix 1 to the report.

59 Disciplinary Procedure 

The Head of People Services presented a report on a revised Disciplinary 
Procedure. He explained that the Procedure was last updated in July 2015 and 
was due a review and update. In summary, following initial consultation with the 
Trade Unions, key changes included:

• Updating “Service Managers” to “Head’s of Service”
• Updating “HR” to “People Services”
• Inclusion of the use of Mediation
• A reference to handling Grievances within a disciplinary process

Page 3



12th December 2018 4

• Clarification on representation during investigation
• Clarification around suspension arrangements
• Updated protected characteristics within discrimination
• Minor updates to the rules to reflect the ACAS code of conduct.

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee approve the revised Disciplinary 
Procedure.

60 Whistleblowing Policy 

The Sub-Committee considered a revised Whistleblowing Policy. The Head of 
People Services presented the report and explained that the current Policy was 
originally approved in October 2013 and the contact details were updated in June 
2015. There have been some changes and a code of practice issued since then 
which needed to be incorporated in a revised policy.  Key changes included:

 Definition of Whistleblowing clarified.
 Included the legal categories identified in the code (removed the ones in the 

old policy).
 Included reference to ACAS if felt unfairly treated.
 Included about providing support/counselling to workers as appropriate.
 Included the prescribed persons list.

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee approve this revised policy on 
Whistleblowing.

61 Use of Settlement Agreements in the Council 

The Sub-Committee considered a report on the use of settlement agreements in 
the last 4 years. The Head of People Services presented the report and explained 
that the Council used settlement agreements to resolve a small number of 
historical under-payment cases involving workers still on the payroll. Such 
agreements included confidentiality clauses, based on a standard formula and 
drafted following legal advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer.

In 2015 no settlement agreements were entered into. In 2016 five settlement 
agreements were entered into. In 2017 three settlement agreements were made 
and so far in 2018 one had been made.  Over this period around 300 people had 
left the Council, so settlement agreements were used in a very small proportion of 
cases.

The Head of People Services responded to questions from Sub-Committee 
Members. He explained that further details are published here in the Annual 
Accounts.

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee note the contents of this report.

62 Any Other Business 

None.

Page 4

https://www.worcester.gov.uk/documents/10499/8558582/Statement+of+Accounts+2017-2018.pdf/ac7d6dec-0f7c-798f-3693-9f8dcef7081b


12th December 2018 5

63 Items Involving the Disclosure of Exempt information 

RESOLVED: That under Section 100(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item 
of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Schedule 12A of the said Act.

64 Minutes (Exempt Items) 

RESOLVED: That the minutes (exempt items) of the meetings held on 11th 
July 2018 and 9th October 2018 be approved as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman.

Duration of the meeting: 7.00p.m. – 7.38p.m.

Chairman at the meeting on
27th February 2019

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Report to: Personnel & General Purposes Sub-Committee, 27th February 2019

Report of: Head of Property and Asset Management 

Subject: HEALTH & SAFETY POLICY-NOMINATION OF LEAD MEMBER FOR HEALTH 
AND SAFETY

1. Recommendations

1.1. That the Sub-Committee agrees on the nomination of a Lead Member for 
Health and Safety to be appointed at the Annual Council meeting in May 2019.

2. Background

2.1 At its last meeting of 12 December 2018, the Committee agreed the adoption of an 
updated Health and Safety Policy.

2.2 In the updated Policy, the responsibilities of the Council as an employer include the 
nomination of a member of the Council to take the lead on health and safety matters 
and hold the Managing Director and his/her Corporate Leadership and Corporate 
Management Teams to account for operational health and safety management 
performance.

2.3 The Committee resolved to defer the nomination of the lead Member until its next 
meeting

3. Preferred Option

3.1 A copy of the updated Policy is attached at Appendix 1.  The Policy is in three 
sections:-

1 A statement by the Managing Director and Leader of the Council of the commitment to 
Health and Safety

2 The governance structure for the management of Health and Safety at the Council

3 A synopsis of the “Management Arrangements” in place or being developed for 
procedures in particular areas

3.2 The policy is clear about roles and responsibilities as well as the terms of reference for 
the various groups overseeing Health and Safety, including the Joint Consultative and 
Safety Committee which performs the role of the statutory Health and Safety 
Committee.  The updated Policy has been considered and endorsed by the JCSC at its 
meeting of the 28th November 2018.

3.3 The 27 Management Arrangements are individual documents which govern procedures 
at a corporate level for the management of their particular subject area and allow for 
the service level development of Safe Operating Procedures and Method Statements 

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



following the undertaking of appropriate Risk Assessments.  These have been 
consolidated from the 36 or more policies that previously existed.

3.4 The Policy and its Management Arrangements are available on the Council’s Intranet.

3.5 The Council's elected members have a responsibility to conduct their business and 
make decisions in conformity with health and safety legislation and the Council's own 
policies. Members must ensure that the decisions they make take account of health 
and safety issues and that sufficient resources are allocated for this purpose.

3.6 The Council, as a ‘body corporate’, represents The Council as employer and therefore 
holds ultimate responsibility at law for the health and safety of The Council’s 
employees, contract workers and all others who may be affected by The Council’s 
various business activities and undertakings.  

3.7 The responsibilities of The Council as employer include the nomination of a member of 
The Council to take the lead on health and safety matters and hold the Managing 
Director and his/her Corporate Leadership and Corporate Management Teams to 
account for operational health and safety management performance.

3.8 The consensus of Committee at the previous meeting was that it would be helpful but 
not essential if the nominee for the lead Member was a member of Personnel and 
General Purposes Committee.

3.9 The Committee’s nominee will be considered for appointment by the Annual Council 
meeting in May 2019.

4. Implications

4.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications

There are no financial or budgetary implications arising directly out of this decision

4.2 Legal and Governance Implications

The Policy updates existing responsibilities set out in the current Health and Safety 
Policy

4.3 Risk Implications

The Health and Safety policy promotes a risk assessment approach to minimising the 
risk of harm to employees, visitors and users of council services

4.4 Corporate/Policy Implications

The appointment of a lead Member for Health and Safety is required by the recently 
adopted Health and Safety Policy.

4.5 Equality Implications

None

4.6 Human Resources Implications

Page 8



None

4.7 Health and Safety Implications

The Health and Safety Policy defines the Council’s commitment and approach to Health 
and Safety.

4.8 Social, Environmental and Economic Implications

None

Ward(s): All
Contact Officer: Kevin Moore, Head of Property and Asset Management 

01905 722251
Background Papers: None 

Appendix 1 – Health and Safety Policy

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 1 of 33 

 
 

Worcester City Council 

CORPORATE 

HEALTH AND SAFETY 

POLICY  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Title  Health and Safety Policy 

Status  Final 

Document Version V 1.0 

Author  Mark Durham / Lucie Brown 

Sponsor Leader of the Council 

Owner Managing Director 

Approved by P & GP Committee 

Approved date 12th December 2018 

Review frequency Annually  

Next Review: December 2019 

Version History 

Version Date Description 

0.1 30th July 2018 1st draft 

0.2 3rd August 2018 2nd draft 

0.3 21st August 2018 3rd draft 

0.4 22nd August 2018 4th draft 

0.5 13th September 2018 5th draft 

0.6 21st September 2018 6th draft 

0.7 26th September 2018 7th draft 

1.0 14th November 2018 Final 

Page 11 Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 2 of 33 

 
 

Contents 
 

1 Health and Safety Policy Statement ...................................... 5 
 

2 Health and Safety Organisation ............................................ 7 
2.1 Health and Safety Management Structure .......................................................... 7 
2.2 Roles and Responsibilities ................................................................................. 7 

 

3 Operational Arrangements .................................................. 25 
3.1 Accidents and Near Misses .............................................................................. 25 
3.2 Asbestos .......................................................................................................... 26 
3.3 Confined Space ............................................................................................... 26 
3.4 Consultation with Employees ........................................................................... 26 
3.5 Contractors ...................................................................................................... 27 
3.6 Display Screen Equipment ............................................................................... 27 
3.7 Driving .............................................................................................................. 27 
3.8 Electrical Safety ............................................................................................... 28 
3.9 Emergency Planning ........................................................................................ 28 
3.10 Fire .................................................................................................................. 29 
3.11 First Aid ............................................................................................................ 29 
3.12 Hazardous Substances .................................................................................... 29 
3.13 Health and Wellbeing ....................................................................................... 29 
3.14 Home Working ................................................................................................. 30 
3.15 Inspection by Outside Authorities ..................................................................... 30 
3.16 Legionellosis Control ........................................................................................ 30 
3.17 Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment .......................................................... 31 
3.18 Manual Handling .............................................................................................. 31 
3.19 Monitoring Health and Safety ........................................................................... 31 
3.20 Noise................................................................................................................ 31 
3.21 Personal Protective Equipment ........................................................................ 32 
3.22 Personal Safety including Lone Working .......................................................... 32 
3.23 Risk Assessment ............................................................................................. 32 
3.24 Training ............................................................................................................ 32 
3.25 Vibration ........................................................................................................... 32 
3.26 Work Equipment .............................................................................................. 33 
3.27 Working at Height ............................................................................................ 33 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 12



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 3 of 33 

 
 

 

Introduction 

It is a legal requirement for an organisation employing five or more people, to have a 

health and safety policy which is evidenced in writing.  This policy provides an overall 

philosophy in relation to the management of health and safety and this document 

aims to fulfil this requirement by setting out the details of Worcester City Council’s 

commitment to securing the health, safety and welfare of its employees, contract and 

agency workers and other visitors.   

 

Health and safety forms an integral part of our everyday process for running the 

Council and an integral part of our behaviour and attitudes.  The Council recognises 

that the core elements of effectively managing our health and safety are: 

 

 Strong Leadership and Management 

 

 A trained and skilled workforce 

 

 An environment where people are empowered, engaged and actively 

involved. 

This policy document is supported and amplified by corporate health and safety 

management arrangements or procedures, which explain how to ensure compliance 

with the health and safety policy in particular subject matter area.   

 

The Policy is divided into three sections: 

 

Section 1 Health and Safety Policy Statement 

Section 2 Health and Safety Management Organisation 

Section 3 Health and Safety Arrangements  

Page 13



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 4 of 33 

 
 

Section 1 – The Policy Statement - the organisational commitment to health 

and safety 

The purpose of the Policy Statement is to outline the commitment of The Council 

through the Managing Director and Senior Management Teams, to secure the effective 

management of workplace health and safety, in accordance with the requirements of 

the Health and Safety of Work etc. Act 1974 and all of the subordinate regulations. 

 

Section 2 – The ‘Organisation’ for health & safety – the responsibilities  

Everyone has a part to play in the effective organisation and management of health 

and safety in the workplace.  However there are differing levels of responsibility 

associated with different roles and these are outlined in this section of the policy.  All 

staff are therefore expected to fully familiarise themselves with this part of document 

and identify which specific responsibilities relate to them in their particular role within 

the organisation. 

 

Section 3 – The ‘Arrangements’ for health & safety – the management 

processes and procedures 

The ‘Arrangements’ are the sets of procedures outlining how the organisation will 

ensure that it fully complies with specific requirements to provide a safe workplace for 

its staff, contract and agency workers and other visitors.  All of these management 

arrangements or procedures are contained in a series of separate documents which 

are subordinate to this main policy document.  A synopsis of each management 

arrangement is provided in Section 3. 

 

Scope of this policy 

This health and safety policy is relevant to everyone connected with Worcester City 

Council and its business operations.  All sites and activities are covered by this policy 

and all employees, agency workers, contractors and other visitors, are expected to 

comply with the relevant local safety arrangements.   

 
All employees, agency workers and contractors engaged by The Council will be given 

access to this policy in order to gain an understanding of the Council’s commitment to 

health and safety in the workplace and consider their personal responsibility in 

ensuring the safety of themselves and others who may be affected by their acts or 

omissions. Workplaces without access to the Intranet must ensure that they have a 

printed copy of this health and safety policy available for reference by managers and 

staff. 

Page 14



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 5 of 33 

 
 

 

1 Health and Safety Policy Statement  

 

Worcester City Council (The Council) recognises that good health and safety 

management supports the delivery of our services to the citizens of Worcester. 

 

The Council is committed to providing and maintaining a healthy and safe working 

environment for all its employees, contract and agency workers and ensuring that 

their work does not adversely affect the health and safety of other people such as 

service users, visitors and contractors. 

 

In order to achieve this aim The Council has the following key objectives: 

 

 to comply, as a minimum standard, with all relevant regulatory requirements 

and associated Health and Safety Executive Approved Codes of Practice (ACoPs) 

and Guidance on best practice; 

 promote health and safety as a fundamental element of line management 

responsibility at all levels within the organisation, as well as an integral part of 

quality management and staff development processes; 

 to provide sufficient resources to enable operational managers to properly 

implement The Council’s Health and Safety Policy; 

 to strive to adopt, so far as reasonably practicable, appropriate levels of current 

best  practice, in an effort to ensure that the organisation’s activities do not 

adversely affect the health and safety of its employees, agency workers, 

contractors and/or members of the general public; 

 to continually strive to further improve health and safety management 

performance so that accidents and incidents of work-related ill-health, are 

reduced, so far as is reasonably practicable; 

 to produce a statement of The Council’s key health and safety objectives and 

priorities in the form of an annual health and safety management report and 

action plan for the entire Authority; 

 to appoint one or more competent persons to provide assistance in undertaking 

the measures needed to comply with the requirements and prohibitions 
imposed by the relevant statutory provisions;  

 to ensure compliance with the policy through a process of delivery of 

programmes of staff training, inspection of workplace activities and auditing of 

safety management practice and reviewing safety management performance 

annually; 

 to identify hazards (the potential for harm), assess risks (the likelihood of that 

harm being realised) and manage those risks;   

Page 15



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 6 of 33 

 
 

 to ensure that employees (and others as appropriate) are adequately informed 

of the identified risks and where appropriate receive instruction, training and 

supervision; 

 to ensure that employees and agency workers are provided with all the 

information, instruction, training and health surveillance they need to enable 

them to work safely and secure the health, safety and welfare of themselves, 

their colleagues and others, through targeted programmes of training linked to 

their personal development; 

 to consult with employees’ representatives on health and safety matters; 

 to provide and maintain safe and healthy premises and work equipment; 

 to ensure that employees are competent to undertake their tasks correctly and 

safely, providing instruction and training where necessary; 

 to ensure that contractors are competent to manage the health and safety 

aspects of their work and require contractors and all other business partners, to 

demonstrate the same level of commitment to continuous improvement in 

standards of health and safety performance; 

 to maintain appropriate health and safety management systems and 

arrangements and monitor and review the effectiveness of the safety 

management systems and arrangements and where appropriate implement 

improvements;  

 to commit to the maintenance of the Occupational Health and Safety 

Assessment Series 18001:2007 standard and working towards ISO 45001 

 to co-operate fully with relevant enforcement authorities and work with relevant 

external agencies to further the understanding and development of health and 

safety management and best practice. 

. 

      

 

 

 

David Blake        Cllr Marc Bayliss 

Managing Director      Leader of the Council 

18 December 2018 

Page 16



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 7 of 33 

 
 

 

2 Health and Safety Organisation 

 

2.1 Health and Safety Management Structure 

 

 

 
 

2.2 Roles and Responsibilities 

This section identifies the health & safety responsibilities of each of the 

following: 

 

 The Council 

 Managing Director 

 Corporate Leadership Team 

 Corporate Management Team 

 Directors 

 Heads of Service 

 Managers, Team Leaders and Supervisors 

 Employees 

 Joint Consultative Safety Committee (JCSC) 

 Health and Safety Risk Management Group (HSRMG) 

 Corporate Health and Safety Officer 

 External Service Delivery Organisations 

Page 17



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 8 of 33 

 
 

2.2.1 Worcester City Council 

Worcester City Council, as an employer, is responsible for ensuring that health, safety 

and welfare standards are set and maintained and will continuously seek to reduce 

accidents and incidents of ill health in the workplace. The Council will ensure that 

sufficient resources are available to achieve and maintain these high standards of 

safety proficiency, including the provision of any health and safety training and 

information for employees, safety equipment or clothing and welfare facilities and also 

to monitor and review the health and safety standards of the Council by both internal 

and external audit. 

 

2.2.2 Leader of The Council and Elected Members 

The Council's elected members have a responsibility to conduct their business and 

make decisions in conformity with health and safety legislation and the Council's own 

policies. Members must ensure that the decisions they make take account of health 

and safety issues and that sufficient resources are allocated for this purpose. 

The Council, as a ‘body corporate’, represents The Council as employer and therefore 

holds ultimate responsibility at law for the health and safety of The Council’s 

employees, contract workers and all others who may be affected by The Council’s 

various business activities and undertakings.  The responsibilities of The Council as 

employer in the context of workplace health and safety are broadly to: 

 

 nominate a member of The Council to take the lead on health and safety matters 

and hold the Managing Director and his/her Corporate Leadership and Corporate 

Management Teams to account for operational health and safety management 

performance;  

 

 ensure that a suitably robust Corporate Health and Safety Policy is produced for 

The Council and that it is regularly updated and signed up to by both the Leader of 

The Council and the Managing Director; 

 

 ensure that sufficient resources are devoted to the health and safety function to 

enable the policy to be effectively implemented across the entire Authority; 

 

 encourage and support the work and activities of the Council’s Joint Consultative 

and Safety Committee; 

 

 require the production of a sufficiently detailed and robust annual health and 

safety management report for The Council, to include an action plan outlining the 

proposed measures to be adopted over the forthcoming year to further improve 

safe working practices and minimise all operational risks. 

 

 

 

Page 18



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 9 of 33 

 
 

2.2.3 Managing Director 

The Managing Director holds ultimate operational responsibility for ensuring that the 

Council’s Health and Safety Policy is fully implemented, with the effective 

management of health and safety in all of The Council’s business undertakings and 

activities thereby assured.  Acting through the Corporate Leadership and Corporate 

Management Teams, their Directors and Heads of Service and respective senior 

operational managers and, acting with the advice and support of the Council’s 

professional Health and Safety Officers, the Managing Director is responsible for 

ensuring that suitably robust arrangements are in place to secure compliance with all 

applicable statutory requirements. The responsibilities of the Managing Director in the 

context of health and safety are broadly to: 

 

 be accountable to The Council for establishing and implementing The Council’s 

Health and Safety Policy and ensuring that it is periodically reviewed; 

 be accountable to The Council for its overall safety management performance; 

 advise The Council in respect of the resources required to secure full compliance 

with all relevant statutory requirements;  

 ensure adequate operational management of health and safety across the Council 

by delegation of tasks through the Corporate Leadership and Corporate 

Management Teams, their Heads of Service and respective senior operational 

managers; 

 ensure adequate consultations between management, relevant specialist advisers 

and employee representatives, prior to the introduction of any change in the 

workplace likely to impact upon workplace health and safety; 

 actively encourage and support the work and activities of the Joint Consultative 

and Safety Committee.  To make all of the necessary arrangements to ensure that 

trades union appointed Safety Representatives and/or elected Representatives of 

Employee Safety are able to perform their duties effectively; 

 promote and support the provision of training in health and safety for staff 

including any agency workers and to ensure that sufficient training is delivered to 

managers to make them fully aware of the nature and extent of their health and 

safety responsibilities. 

 

2.2.4 Corporate Leadership Team 

The Corporate Leadership Team comprising The Council’s most senior Directors is 

responsible for: 

 

 providing strategic direction and endorsing corporate health and safety strategies; 

 ensuring that robust health and safety management systems, arrangements and 

organisations exist in each Service Area; and 

Page 19



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 10 of 33 

 
 

 supporting the Managing Director in meeting his safety responsibilities for the 

Council as a whole. 

 providing an integrated corporate forum for the implementation of The Council’s 

health and safety strategy; 

 leading on embedding core management competencies across the organisation 

e.g. leadership, individual performance management, risk and resilience, business 

continuity, financial management and health and safety; 

 helping to promote and further develop a positive organisational health and safety 

culture; 

 providing an integrated corporate forum for development and implementation of 

The Council’s health and safety strategy; 

 leading on the development and implementation of The Council’s health and safety 

strategy and also take the lead on key strategic initiatives; 

 undertaking horizon scanning of local, regional and national initiatives on health 

and safety; 

 providing health and safety  leadership support to the Corporate Management 

Team; 

 receiving quarterly reports by exception from Corporate Management Team on 

health and safety, risk management and the strategic programme board. 

 signing off health and safety reports for Council and committees as appropriate. 

 

2.2.5 Corporate Management Team 

Under the direction of the Managing Director, the Corporate Management Team, 

working through the Director of Finance and Resources, Head of Property and Asset 

Management and with the support and guidance of The Council’s Health & Safety 

Officers, is responsible for achieving effective implementation of The Council’s Health 

and Safety Policy and establishing health and safety management standards and 

priorities in respect of the services they are responsible for.  The responsibilities of the 

Corporate Management Team in the context of health and safety are broadly to: 

 

 secure the effective implementation of The Council’s Health and Safety Policy 

including the health and safety and fire safety organisational arrangements across 

their service areas, together with the achievement of the health and safety 

objectives set out in The Council’s annual corporate health and safety management 

plan; 

Page 20



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 11 of 33 

 
 

 ensure that all operational managers for whom they are responsible, are fully 

aware of and adequately discharge their health and safety responsibilities;  

 ensure that operational managers across The Council adopt a pro-active approach 

to the management of all workplace hazards through a process of risk assessing 

work tasks and activities and by adopting suitable control measures designed to 

either eliminate or at least reduce the risks to as low a level as is reasonably 

practicable in the circumstances, with timely advice and assistance sought from 

the Council’s Health & Safety Officers where necessary; 

 ensure that the health and safety arrangements, such as emergency evacuation 

arrangements, are fully developed, properly implemented and periodically 

reviewed, seeking specialist advice where necessary, in particular, with regard to; 

proposed changes to current workplace arrangements; planning new operations or 

methods of work; and designing or acquiring new buildings, plant and/or 

equipment, etc; 

 make sufficient resources available for health and safety matters as deemed 

necessary, to ensure that The Council’s Health and Safety Policy is fully 

implemented, with management performance suitably measured and periodically 

reviewed; 

 working in conjunction with the Council’s Health & Safety Officers, establish annual 

key performance indicators (KPIs) for workplace safety standards and safety 

management performance, across the Authority;  

 actively encourage and support the work and activities of the Council’s Health and 

Safety Committee and make all of the necessary arrangements to ensure that 

trades union appointed Safety Representatives and/or elected Representatives of 

Employee Safety are able to perform their duties effectively; 

 promote and support the provision of training in health and safety matters for staff 

and agency workers, to ensure that sufficient and appropriate training is delivered 

to their operational managers, in order to make them fully aware of the nature and 

extent of their health and safety responsibilities and the various safety-related 

tasks members of their teams are expected to undertake as an integral part of 

their work; 

 update the Managing Director on the implications of any applicable new health and 

safety legislation brought to their attention by the Council’s Health & Safety 

Officers; 

 receive and suitably action, in collaboration with the Head of Property and Asset 

Management and the Council’s Health and Safety Officers, all official health and 

safety, fire safety and site security reports originating from the Health and Safety 

Executive, Safety Representatives, Hereford & Worcester Fire & Rescue Service, 

West Mercia Constabulary, the Council’s insurer and/or Worcestershire County 

Council, etc. and keep the Managing Director fully briefed regarding all 

requirements and actions taken; 

Page 21



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 12 of 33 

 
 

 facilitate and support periodic joint workplace health and safety inspections 

involving trades union-appointed Safety Representatives, relevant operational 

managers and The Council’s Health and Safety Officers; 

 adopt a corporate approach to the management and delivery of health and safety 

within the Council functions;  

 make health and safety recommendations to Corporate Leadership Team for the 

agenda of Wider Management Team meetings; 

 maintain the corporate and service risk registers and manage the delivery of 

investigations and actions; and 

 cascade key health and safety messages to wider Management Team/Service 

areas. 

 

2.2.6 Directors 

Directors are responsible for the health, safety and welfare of their team members, 

whether they be employees or agency workers, together with visitors to their areas.  

Consequently senior managers have a responsibility to ensure that The Council’s 

Health and Safety Policy is effectively implemented in their areas, with all relevant 

corporate management arrangements adhered to by their staff at all times. Senior 

managers are therefore expected to ensure that health and safety matters pertinent 

to their areas and to the activities over which they exert operational control, are  

given a sufficiently high priority and made an integral part of the overall management 

processes.   

All of The Council’s directors are expected to be fully committed to achieving a 

continued improvement in health and safety management performance and to always 

lead by example in the workplace. With the guidance and support of The Council’s 

Health and Safety Officers, all directors are expected to establish and set appropriate 

operational health and safety management targets for their junior managers and team 

leaders, in order to be able to demonstrate a continuing improvement in overall health 

and safety management performance.  Therefore as an integral part of their 

operational management responsibilities, directors will: 

 ensure that operations under their control are conducted without detriment to the 

health and safety of members of their teams and others who may be affected by 

their activities and, seek timely advice and guidance from The Council’s Health and 

Safety Officers, as and when required; 
 

 ensure that their managers fully familiarise themselves with the contents of this 

Health and Safety Policy together with the contents of all associated health and 

safety procedural documents and that all relevant health and safety procedures 

and safe systems of working are properly implemented within their areas; 

Page 22



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 13 of 33 

 
 

 ensure that they fully familiarise themselves with the legal requirements relevant 

to the workplace activities over which they have operational control, including the 

hazards and level of risk associated with the operations and activities for which 

they are directly responsible; 

 ensure that all activities for which they have operational responsibility, are 

properly planned and resourced, that appropriate controls to minimise any 

associated risks are implemented and that the personnel involved are adequately 

instructed, trained and supervised; 

 ensure that their teams properly risk assess the work activities they undertake, 

adopt measures commensurate with the level that the risk demands and, be able 

to demonstrate that they have done so in the form of completed risk assessments 

of all of the potentially more hazardous work activities their team members 

undertake;   
 

 ensure that a sufficient number of staff within their teams are nominated to act as 

Fire Marshals to ‘sweep out’ their local work areas in the event of the sounding of 

the fire and emergency evacuation alarm and, ensure that these staff receive the 

necessary instruction and training to be able to undertake these essential 

workplace emergency tasks; 
 

 ensure that a sufficient number of staff within their teams are encouraged and 

supported to become trained emergency first-aiders to be able to adequately deal 

with first-aid emergencies arising in the work areas over which they exert 

operational control and for which they have operational responsibility;  
 

 ensure that all equipment and machinery in their areas and for which they are 

directly responsible, is maintained in good order and repair and that up to date 

records are always available in their service areas of all equipment and machinery 

statutory examinations, servicing, repairs and replacements;   

 ensure that staff and agency workers for whom they are responsible, are always 

appropriately supervised, suitably instructed and trained and, provided with all of 

the personal protective equipment and clothing (PPE) they need to be able to 

undertake their tasks correctly and safely;  

 ensure that suitable specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and time-bound 

(SMART) operational health and safety management targets are set for their team 

members, in order to enable The Council to achieve a continuing improvement in 

its overall health and safety management performance; 

   

 ensure that they promptly report all cases of work-related staff absenteeism 

and/or sickness, to both their People Services Business Partner and to The 

Council’s Health and Safety Officers;. 

Page 23



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 14 of 33 

 
 

 consult in good time with their team members on all matters of health, safety and 

actively support the work and activities of The Council’s Health and Safety 

Committee. 

 

2.2.7 Director of Finance and Resources  

In addition to the generic health and safety management responsibilities listed above 

applicable to all Directors, the Director of Finance & Resources, in their capacity as 

head of the health and safety function and acting through the Head of Property and 

Asset Management, Head of Finances, Head of People Services and The Council’s 

Health & Safety Officers, is responsible for: 

 establishing and ensuring the maintenance of appropriate standards of workplace 

health and safety and safety management performance across the Authority; 

 securing adequate resourcing of The Council’s health and safety support function; 

 securing adequate resources for the effective training of all employees and agency 

workers on workplace health and safety matters; 

 securing adequate resources for the maintenance and repair of all Council owned 

and/or controlled premises, facilities and equipment used by Council employees 

and agency workers.     

 

2.2.8 Heads of Service 

Responsibilities are essentially similar to those of Directors listed above.  Heads of 

Service are responsible for establishing their own practice specific to operations 

namely: 

 

 producing Health and Safety plans that support the Corporate objectives; 

 identifying the hazards and relevant legislation applying to their activities and 

assessing the associated risks; 

 planning and implementing arrangements to eliminate or control significant risks 

and to comply with the relevant legislation; 

 monitoring the above arrangements to ensure that they are working effectively; 

 recording the significant findings of their risk assessments in an appropriate 

manner; 

 ensuring their managers are competent in health and safety management 

techniques, the minimum standard being as set out in the City Council’s 

Competency Framework; 

 ensure that staff are involved and consulted on relevant health and safety matters 

in good time and ensure that their views are considered; 

Page 24



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 15 of 33 

 
 

 obtaining assistance from the Corporate Health and Safety Officer where 

necessary; 

 reviewing the health and safety performance of their Service Area annually and 

provide a summary of that review to the Health and Safety Risk Management 

Group; 

 reporting to the Corporate Directors any situation where the standards set out in 

the City Council’s General Statement of Health and Safety Policy cannot be 

implemented. 

 

2.2.9 Head of People Services  

In addition to the generic health and safety management responsibilities listed above 

applicable to all Heads of Service, the Head of People Services and their team are 

responsible for formulating, organising and co-ordinating staff training/continuing 

professional development programmes, including those relating to essential workplace 

health and safety training.  A nominated member of the People Services Team acting 

as The Council’s Staff Development Manager, regularly meets with The Council’s 

Health & Safety Officers to review staff and agency worker health and safety training 

requirements, including any training needs identified by operational managers.  This 

information is used to formulate an annual health and safety staff and agency worker 

training plan, which is presented to both the Corporate Management Team and The 

Councils Health and Safety Committee (JCSC) for formal approval. 

 

2.2.10 Managers, Team Leaders and Supervisors 

Managers, Team Leaders and Supervisors are responsible for the health, safety and 

welfare of their staff and agency workers and other visitors to their areas.  

Consequently all managers have a responsibility to ensure that The Council’s Health 

and Safety Policy is effectively implemented in their areas, with all relevant 

management arrangements and local procedures, such as fire and emergency 

evacuation and accident investigation and notification procedures, are adhered to by 

their staff and agency workers at all times.  The responsibilities of operational 

managers and their supervisors in the context of workplace health and safety are 

therefore broadly to: 

 

 ensure that operations under their control are conducted without detriment to the 

health and safety of employees, agency workers and others who may be affected 

by the activities; 

 ensure that all employees and agency workers for whom they are directly 

responsible, are fully familiarised with the contents of The Council’s Health and 

Safety Policy including the ‘arrangements’ for safety contained within all of the 

associated health and safety procedural documents; 

Page 25



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 16 of 33 

 
 

 ensure that equipment is provided that is appropriate for the task, maintained in 

good order and repair and only ever operated by suitably trained and experienced 

operatives who are subject to appropriate levels of supervision; 

 ensure that staff permitted to operate potentially more hazardous work equipment 

and machinery have all received an appropriate level of instruction and training to 

a recognised level in the correct and safe use of the equipment or machinery 

concerned; 

 ensure the safe handling, use and storage of all substances and especially 

substances classed as irritant, harmful or toxic; 

 ensure that ‘suitable and sufficient’ risk assessments of all of the potentially more 

hazardous workplace activities are carried out by suitably trained team members 

and recorded, with appropriate action taken to eliminate or minimise the risks 

associated with those workplace activities; 

 develop local procedures and safe working practices in line with the local risk 

assessments; 

 ensure that, where found to be necessary following risk assessment, suitable and 

sufficient personal protective clothing and equipment be made available to relevant 

staff and agency workers alike, with periodic checks made to ensure that all such 

equipment is being worn and properly maintained; 

 ensure that all personal protective equipment provided in the interests of health 

and safety is regularly cleaned and maintained and kept in clean and separate 

accommodation;   

 ensure that employees and agency workers receive appropriate induction, task or 

equipment specific training, fire and emergency evacuation training and retraining 

in health and safety matters, as required; 

 ensure that members of their teams are always fully consulted on matters affecting 

their health and safety in the workplace; 

 ensure that accidents and incidents within their areas of control are recorded on 

The Council’s form designed for this purpose, properly investigated and suitably 

actioned in an effort to prevent a recurrence; 

 

 ensure that staff and/or agency workers reporting a work-related illness are duly 

referred to The Council’s occupational health service provider, via People Services; 

 undertake regular management ‘safety tours’ of their areas of responsibility either 

with or without the local trades union appointed Safety Representative and/or one 

of The Council’s Health and Safety Officers, to help ensure that they are fully 

familiar with the range of activities being undertaken by their staff and agency 

workers and, ensure that their staff are undertaking their activities to an 

appropriate standard and in a safe manner;   

Page 26



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 17 of 33 

 
 

 ensure that all employees and agency workers  under their control, are made fully 

aware of all health and safety matters, fully understand their responsibilities and, 

in particular, are made aware of what they must do in the event of a fire or other 

similar workplace emergency; 

 ensure that a sufficient number of staff within their teams are nominated to act as 

Fire Marshals to ‘sweep out’ their local work areas in the event of the sounding of 

the fire and emergency evacuation alarm and ensure that these staff receive the 

necessary instruction and training to be able to undertake these essential 

workplace emergency tasks; 

 ensure that a sufficient number of staff within their teams are actively encouraged 

and supported to become trained Emergency First-Aiders, to deal with first-aid 

emergencies arising in the local work areas for which they have operational 

responsibility; 

 ensure that all equipment and machinery in their areas and for which they are 

directly responsible, is maintained in good order and repair and that up to date 

records are kept in their departments of all equipment and machinery statutory 

examinations and tests, servicing, repairs and replacements;   

 immediately stop any work process or activity which might foreseeably place 

anyone at risk of serious injury or where  breach of statutory requirements has 

been identified or is suspected; 

 seek timely specialist advice on any health and safety matter for which clarification 

or assistance is required and, where necessary, meet with one of The Council’s 

Health and Safety Officers, to review health and safety matters affecting their 

areas of responsibility; 

 make themselves available to carry out periodic safety inspections and/or safety 

management audits of the work areas under their control with one of The Council’s 

Health and Safety officers, as required; 

 facilitate the necessary arrangements to release Safety Representatives and 

Representatives of Employee Safety to attend meetings of the Joint Consultative 

and Safety Committee, each quarter; 

 ensure that all local contractor activities are notified in good time to the Head 

Property & Assets so that any necessary permits-to-work can be properly 

organised and issued by the relevant Officer in Charge or Facilities Manager; 

 as soon as they are made aware of the fact that a member of staff or agency 

worker is pregnant, inform their designated HR Officer and, carry out a risk 

assessment of that person’s work activities, with the assistance of one of The 

Council’s  Health and Safety Officers, where required;  

 suitably action the training needs of their staff and agency workers, including any 

essential health and safety training identified following a risk assessment of their 

work activities; 

Page 27



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 18 of 33 

 
 

 ensure all work related hazards are identified and suitable and sufficient risk 

assessments are undertaken; 

 ensure that they and their staff have adequate levels of competency to complete 

their work tasks safely; 

 ensure that local health and safety systems are maintained, monitored and 

reviewed; 

 report and investigate incidents as necessary; 

 comply with the corporate health and safety policy and procedures; and  

 comply with the requirements of their areas health and safety documentation. 

 

2.2.11 Employees including agency workers 

Employees and agency workers are responsible for: 

 taking reasonable care of their own health and safety and that of others affected 

by their acts or omissions; 

 co-operating with the management of their Service Area so far as is necessary to 

enable risks to be controlled and achieve compliance with relevant legislation; 

 using all work equipment and substances in accordance with the instruction and 

training received; 

 promptly reporting all accidents, incidents, near misses and instances of suspected 

work-related illness to their line manager; 

 not intentionally misusing anything provided in the interests of health, safety and 

welfare; and 

 reporting to their supervisor, team leader or manager any health and safety 

problem which they cannot deal with themselves or any shortcoming they consider 

to be in the health, safety and welfare arrangements. 

 

2.2.12 Joint Consultative and Safety Committee (JCSC) 

The function of the JCSC is to act as the Council’s Health and Safety Committee as 

required by the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 and, more specifically, by the 

Safety Representatives and Safety Committees Regulations 1977 and the Health and 

Safety (Consultation with Employees) Regulations 1996. 

 

Section 2(7) of the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 states that the function of 

this committee ‘shall be to keep under review the measures taken to ensure the 

health and safety at work of employees and such other functions as may be 

prescribed’. 

Page 28



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 19 of 33 

 
 

The JCSC is the forum where all staff are afforded an opportunity to have a say in The 

Council’s short and long-term decision making on workplace health and safety matters 

and standards of practice.  The Health and Safety Executive (HSE) emphasise the 

importance of establishing a properly constituted and active Health and Safety 

Committee in order to develop a positive organisational safety culture and state that 

this has to be a  ‘two-way process where the employer and workers: 

 talk to one another  

 listen to one another's concerns  

 raise concerns and solve problems together 

 seek and share views and information 

 discuss issues in good time  

 consider what everyone has to say 

 make decisions together’ 

 

Constitution and membership of JCSC 

The Safety Representatives and Safety Committees Regulations 1977 stipulate that an 

employer must establish a safety committee within three months, if requested to do 

so in writing by two union appointed Safety Representatives, to act as a forum for 

consultation with them on workplace health and safety matters.    For any Health and 

Safety Committee to be successful, there has to be a positive organisational safety 

culture with positive attitudes displayed towards safety matters by everyone and 

especially by senior managers.  There has to be active involvement not just from 

managers but also from all sections of the workforce.  As a result of this, JCSC will be 

comprised of: 

 a chairperson who will be a representative from the Corporate Leadership Team,  

to embed strong leadership as well as demonstrate organisational commitment to 

resolving the workplace health, safety and welfare issues highlighted by staff via 

their trades union appointed or other elected representatives; 

 management representatives from key service areas who have the authority to 

give proper consideration to views and recommendations relating to particular 

aspects of the work undertaken by staff and the working environment; 

 employee representatives, either formally appointed by a trade union (Safety 

Representatives), elected/nominated by staff groups (Representatives of Employee 

Safety), or a combination of both, who have knowledge and understanding of the 

work tasks and processes undertaken by those groups of staff they represent;  

 representatives of others in the workplace such as agency workers and other 

contractors; and  

 other co-opted workers as ‘ex-officio’ members - people who will be included 

because of their specific competencies such as the Corporate Health and Safety 

Page 29

http://www.hse.gov.uk/involvement/membership-cont.htm#managementrep
http://www.hse.gov.uk/involvement/membership-cont.htm#employeerep
http://www.hse.gov.uk/involvement/membership-cont.htm#coopworkers


 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 20 of 33 

 
 

Officers, Occupational Health Adviser(s) and other specialist business support staff, 

as required. 

 

Full details of the current representation, chair, officers and functions of JCSC can be 

found in the Councils Constitution, Part 3 Responsibility for Functions - Appendix A. 

 

The principal remit of the JCSC includes; 

• review of incident and accident statistics and trends; 

• examination of safety audit reports and the findings of enforcing authority 

inspection reports; 

• consideration of any reports on issues made by the safety representatives 

themselves; 

• assisting in the development of workable safety rules and safe systems of work; 

• evaluate the effectiveness and adequacy or otherwise of staff health and safety 

training; 

• monitoring the adequacy of internal health and safety communication and 

publicity;  

• evaluating revisions to The Council’s Health and Safety Policy and making 

recommendations for further improvement, etc. 

 to keep under review the measures taken to ensure the health, safety and welfare 

at work of employees; and  

 to consider any matters referred to the Committee by Departmental Safety 

Representatives.  

 

Role of the Council’s trades union appointed ‘Safety Representatives’ 

The trades union appointed Safety Representatives have the right to make and 

accompany certain types of safety inspection, consult with The Council, receive safety 

information upon reasonable request and, undergo 'reasonable' training on health and 

safety matters.  Furthermore, Safety Representatives have the right to be consulted 

'in good time', in relation to certain key workplace changes and arrangements which 

could foreseeably affect the safety, health and welfare of their members. 

Safety Representatives therefore have the functions of representation and 

consultation with The Council on health and safety matters and in particular, are able 

to, either jointly or independently, undertake the following, namely: 

• investigation of potential hazards, dangerous occurrences and causes of 

accidents in the workplace; 

Page 30

http://committee.cityofworcester.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD1025&ID=1025&RPID=4732313


 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 21 of 33 

 
 

• investigation of complaints by employees concerning health, safety and welfare 

matters; 

• performing regular workplace inspections, having given reasonable written 

notice to the employer;  

• representing employees in workplace consultations with inspectors of the 

appropriate enforcing authority, including the receipt of information/advice from 

them; and 

• representing employees' safety interests at safety committee meetings, where 

any particular concerns regarding workplace safety matters, may be raised. 

 

Role of The Council’s staff elected ‘Representatives of Employee Safety’  

The Health and Safety (Consultation with Employees) Regulations 1996 extended the 

consultation requirements to all employees, irrespective of their membership of a 

trades union. Under these Regulations The Council can either consult with such 

employees directly, or consult with one or more persons who have been elected from 

amongst their number, to represent their particular group’s interests. Such persons 

are correctly referred to as ‘Representatives of Employee Safety’ rather than the 

customary ‘Safety Representative’ and although they have very similar roles to those 

of Safety Representatives, listed above, their statutory powers are not quite so 

extensive.   

 

2.2.13 Health and Safety Risk Management Group (HSRMG) 

The Health and Safety Risk Management Group (HSRMG) oversees the on-going 

operational management of Health and Safety Risk Management at Worcester City 

Council and associated partners/contractors.  The HSRMG: 

 

 Ensures continued application of the OHAS 18001 standard; 

 Oversees implementation of the current Corporate Health and Safety Policy and 

approve revisions as required; 

 Assists the Corporate Health and Safety Officer with rolling out best practice for 

the above across all teams of the City Council to ensure corporate buy in; 

 Receives and reviews Risk Management reports prior to Corporate Leadership 

Team, JCSC or other management group receiving them; 

 Considers Health and Safety risk management training requests and other 

applications for expenditure and agree budget submissions for approval by the 

Personnel and General Purpose’s sub-committee, as required; 

 Reviews and revises Health and Safety policies and procedures prior to CLT/senior 

management sign off; 

Page 31



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 22 of 33 

 
 

 Receives Health and Safety contract compliance and monitoring reports regarding 

partner organisations and key contractors from responsible officers; 

 Develops responses and review actions against current Insurance Audit 

recommendations; and  

  Reviews Insurance claims and develop solutions to issues 

 

2.2.14 Corporate Health and Safety Officers 

In order to assist the Council, the Corporate Health and Safety Officer will provide 

competent advice and make recommendations to the Health and Safety Risk 

Management Group on the development of the corporate safety management 

arrangements and implementation plans.  

The principal functions of the health and safety professional as described by the 

Health and Safety Executive are as follows: 

 formulating, developing and updating health and safety policies, not just for 

existing activities but also in relation to new acquisitions and planned future 

operations; 

 engendering and promoting a positive health and safety culture through the 

effective implementation of the organisation’s health and safety policy and the 

delivery of both formal and informal staff instruction and training on a range of 

safety-related topics; 

 planning for health and safety by helping operational managers set realistic short- 

and long-term objectives for improvement, decide priorities based upon an 

assessment of risk and, establish adequate safety management systems and 

performance standards; 

 the day-to-day monitoring of effective policy implementation through programmes 

of workplace inspections, together with reviews of operational management plans 

and workplace accidents and incidents, including, where appropriate, their prompt 

reporting to the Health and Safety Executive;   

 the review of safety management performance through programmes of formal 

departmental health and safety management audits. 

To do all of this effectively the health and safety professional must: 

 maintain his/her knowledge and professional ‘competence’ through programmes of 

continuing professional development; 

 maintain adequate information systems on topics including civil and criminal law, 

health and safety management and technical advances; 

 interpret the law in the context of the organisation’s activities and planned future 

operations; 

Page 32



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 23 of 33 

 
 

 be involved in establishing organisational arrangements, systems and risk control 

standards relating to hardware and human behaviours, by advising line 

management on matters such as legal and technical standards; 

 establish and maintain procedures for reporting, investigating, recording and 

analysing accidents and incidents; 

 establish and maintain procedures, including monitoring and other means such as 

review and auditing, to ensure senior managers get a true picture of how well 

health and safety is being managed by their operational managers; and 

 be ready to have to liaise with a wide range of external bodies and individuals 

including; local authority environmental health officers and licensing officials, 

architects and consultants, the Fire Service, contractors, insurance companies, 

HSE Inspectors, equipment suppliers, HM Coroner, the Police and occupational 

health professionals. 

 

Specifically, the Council’s Health and Safety officers are expected to perform the 

following functions: 

 provide support to managers on all work-related health and safety matters; 

 prepare, periodically review and as necessary revise, The Council’s Health and 

Safety Policy and Corporate arrangements/procedures relating to workplace safety 

and fire safety; 

 assist the Corporate Management Team establish annual key performance 

indicators (KPIs) for workplace safety standards and safety management 

performance, across the Authority;  

 keep up to date on developments in health and safety legislation and practice; 

 periodically conduct joint workplace health and safety inspections in conjunction 

with the relevant Safety Representatives and operational managers; 

 assist with the undertaking of workplace health and safety management audits;  

 monitor the implementation of The Council’s Health and Safety Policy and 

associated management arrangements/procedures for workplace safety; 

 help identify staff and agency worker health and safety training needs and prepare 

training materials and provide health and safety instruction and training in a 

variety of formats, including identifying external training as appropriate, as and 

when required; 

 receive and review accident and incident reports, assist investigation as 

appropriate, compile and analyse accident and incident data and advise on 

appropriate action; and 

 liaise with recognised trade unions and their appointed workplace representatives 

on issues relating to the health and safety of their members. 

Page 33



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 24 of 33 

 
 

While the Corporate Health and Safety Officers will provide competent advice and 

support, Heads of Service retain the primary responsibility for ensuring that adequate 

health and safety compliance measures are in place in relation to their sphere of 

operations, as described in Section 2.2.8 above. 

 

2.2.15 External Service Delivery Organisations 

Health and Safety arrangements for External Service Delivery Organisations (ESDO’s) 

are governed by the contractual relationship between the Council and individual 

partners. As a minimum partners are required to specify that they agree to this policy 

and adhere to Council Policy and Procedures when undertaking Council business. 

Page 34



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 25 of 33 

 
 

3 Operational Arrangements 

Health and Safety Arrangements are structured on three basic levels. 

 

 Corporate  

 Service 

 Local 

 
 

 

 

Corporate documentation consists of one Corporate Health and Safety Policy.  The 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy is split into three section; The Policy Statement, 

Organisational Roles and Responsibilities and Arrangements.  

 

The Corporate Health and Safety management arrangements outline how health and 

safety should be being managed operationally. 

 

Service level documentation meets as a minimum the standards and requirements set 

out in the Corporate Health and Safety management arrangements and takes the 

form of risk assessments, safe operating procedures and method statements. 

 

Local documentation covers any health and safety procedures, risk assessments, safe 

operating procedures and requirements unique to a site or area. 

 

Listed below, is a synopsis, of the corporate health and safety arrangements for 

health and safety. All current health and safety documentation can be found on the 

staff intranet. 

 

3.1 Accidents and Near Misses 

The Council strives to prevent accidents and to reduce the number and severity of 

accidents that arise as a result of its activities. All accidents that do occur must be 

reported by the injured/involved person to the manager or supervisor in charge. A 

Page 35



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 26 of 33 

 
 

record must be kept of all reported accidents. It is the responsibility of the 

manager/supervisor of the injured /involved person to ensure that the reported 

accident is investigated, (personally or by delegation to a competent person), calling 

upon suitable assistance as necessary. The purpose of the investigation is to ascertain 

the root causes of the accident and to identify remedial actions in order to prevent a 

recurrence, which must then be implemented.  

 
Accident statistics (for example, relating to the frequency, type and severity, cost) 

must be compiled and monitored by the Corporate Health and Safety Officer in order 

to review the effectiveness of the management of Health and Safety. Local statistics 

and the results of investigations must also be considered by individual managers and 

department heads in order to monitor accident rates within their own areas and to 

track the effectiveness of actions taken to maintain and improve levels of health, 

safety and welfare.  

 

The Council will ensure that all accidents or incidents that are notifiable will be 

reported to the relevant authority within the specified timescales. 

 

3.2 Asbestos 

The Council, in partnership with Place Partnership Ltd until 31st March 2019, will take 

steps to identify any asbestos containing material in properties within our portfolio, 

and if found, its amount, location and condition. Records of all materials known or 

presumed to contain asbestos will be made, kept up to date and made available to 

anyone who is liable to work on or disturb them. The risk of anyone being exposed to 

fibres from the materials will be assessed. Plans must be set out in detail and 

implemented to manage the risks from those materials. 

 

3.3 Confined Space 

The Council will assess the risks that may arise as a result of work in confined spaces. 

Where the assessment identifies risks of serious injury from work in a confined space, 

entry into that space must be avoided.  If entry to a confined space is unavoidable, a 

safe system of work must be followed and adequate emergency arrangements put 

into place before the work is started. 

 

3.4 Consultation with Employees 

Employees or their representatives will be consulted in a timely manner with regard to 

the arrangements to control significant risks and to comply with the relevant 

legislation and this is effected formally through the Council’ Joint Consultative and 

Safety Committee. This whole process takes place in addition to workplace health and 

safety matters being promptly and formally dealt with by the operational managers 

concerned and responsible for the particular matter.   

 

Page 36



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 27 of 33 

 
 

3.5 Contractors 

The Council, in partnership with Place Partnership Ltd until 31st March 2019, will work 

with contractors so as to ensure their Health and Safety as well as that of the Council 

personnel and any others who may be affected by the contractor’s work. To achieve 

this end there will be an exchange of information between the Council and each 

contractor with regard to: 

 

 The work involved;  

 

 Materials and equipment used;  

 

 Known hazards, risks and control measures; 

 

 Any other relevant arrangements that relate to Health and Safety, (for 

example, the reporting of accidents).  

 

Contractors are required to co-operate with The Council in all matters relating to 

Health and Safety. To this effect, contractors are required to ensure that any 

employee or sub contractor under their control is made aware of and fully complies 

with The Council’s appropriate corporate management arrangements for health and 

safety. 

 

3.6 Display Screen Equipment 

The Council will ensure that for each workstation that incorporates display screen 

equipment (DSE) there is an assessment that takes into account the display screen 

equipment, furniture, working environment and staff who use it. Where necessary, 

additional measures will be taken to remedy or manage those risks that are identified 

by the assessment.  

 

All members of staff who are required to operate DSE will be provided with 

information relating to the risks to health associated with DSE work and how these 

risks are to be avoided. Members of staff identified as significant users of DSE must 

be given the opportunity of a periodic eye and eyesight test. Where necessary they 

are supplied with corrective visual appliances where these are required specifically for 

working with DSE. 

 

3.7 Driving 

The Council will ensure that procedures are in place to manage and limit the risks 

presented by work-related driving. For those staff required to drive on The Council 

related business, this will be achieved by: 

 
 Implementation of processes and procedures to assess and manage the risks 

involved in driving;  

 

Page 37



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 28 of 33 

 
 

 Regular review of the competence of those driving and the provision of 

additional training where appropriate;  

 

 Ensuring that vehicles are selected, supplied and maintained by The Council are 

in good condition and fit for their intended purpose;  

 

 Monitoring and regulating driver hours and performance; and  

 

 Ensuring that staff are made aware of their duties under health, safety and 

road traffic legislation and their additional obligations with regard to the 

Council’s driving standards and the need to have suitable insurance coverage in 

place when using their own vehicles for work purposes.  

 

3.8 Electrical Safety 

The Council, in partnership with Place Partnership Ltd until 31st March 2019, is 

committed to ensuring that all electrical wiring systems and electrical equipment are 

installed and maintained in a safe condition. The risks arising from electrical systems 

and equipment must be monitored by a combination of formal testing, inspections and 

user checks.  

 

All electrical installations and equipment are installed in accordance with IEE Wiring 

Regulations. Fixed electrical installations are maintained in a safe condition by 

carrying out routine safety tests. Portable and transportable equipment will be 

inspected and tested periodically. The frequency of inspections and testing depends on 

the environment in which the equipment is used and the conditions of usage. 

 
3.9 Emergency Planning 

 
The Council workplaces each have posted within them the arrangements for action in 

the event of: 

 

 Fire being discovered;  

 

 Evacuation of persons in the event of a fire; and  

 

 Evacuation of persons in the event of other emergencies.  

 

Fire evacuation drills are held in all premises. A record of such drills, equipment tests 

and maintenance is kept within each work place. 

 

Procedures and arrangements for dealing with threat of terrorist related activity such 

as the identification of suspicious packages and the receipt of threats against the 

organisation, (for example, via telephone or letter) are also developed and provided 

for local staff. 

Page 38



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 29 of 33 

 
 

 
3.10 Fire 

The Council, owned or managed premises each have a suitable and sufficient Fire 

Safety Risk Assessment, carried out by, or on behalf on Place Partnership Ltd.  

 

The Fire Safety Risk Assessment includes consideration of all of the risks and hazards 

relating to fire safety and takes into account the effectiveness of existing control 

measures to eliminate those risks and hazards, or reduce them to acceptable levels. 

Where a risk or hazard cannot be dealt with immediately, or effectively, the risk 

assessment outlines the control measures put in place to manage the risk, including 

any planned improvements.  

 

The Fire Safety Risk Assessment is reviewed on an annual basis or sooner where it is 

believed that the assessment may no longer be adequate. A new assessment will be 

completed where that review shows that significant changes have taken place with 

regard to the nature of the hazards present, or the level of risk arising from fire. 

 

3.11 First Aid 

The Council workplaces have sufficient trained first aiders (or appointed persons 

where risk assessment has shown the provision of first aiders to be unnecessary). To 

ensure that there is adequate aid available at all times First Aiders or Appointed 

Persons are selected from employees.  

 

Each workplace is provided with first aid boxes that contain a suitable and sufficient 

quantity of first aid materials. 

 
3.12 Hazardous Substances 

The Council will ensure that procedures are in place for the elimination or, where this 

is not reasonably practicable, the control of substances hazardous to health and the 

protection of personnel from the adverse effects of those substances. This is achieved 

by: 

 

 An assessment of the risks presented by use of such substances, 

 The selection and use of appropriate substances; and 

 The provision of information to staff. 

 

3.13 Health and Wellbeing 

The Council is committed to protecting the overall health, safety and welfare of its 

employees. The Council recognises that work-related stress is a Health and Safety 

issue and acknowledges the importance of tackling the causes of stress in the 

workplace.  

 

To that end, The Council; 

 

Page 39



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 30 of 33 

 
 

 actively monitors its activities to identify conditions that may lead to stress for 

individuals within its workforce; 

 will ensure that there is a culture and method whereby staff who may be 

suffering from the effects of stress are able to report their concerns; and 

 will take steps to prevent or otherwise reduce the effects of those conditions 

 

The Council workplaces and other enclosed public places under its control including 

communal spaces within schemes are designated as smoke free. 

 

Smoking is prohibited in all other enclosed and substantially enclosed premises. 

This includes company vehicles and other vehicles whilst being used for company 

business. 

 

3.14 Home Working 

The Council is committed to ensuring that staff that regularly use their own home for 

work or as a base from which to go and work on different sites can do so safely. 

 

All home working activities are considered and assessed for risk. Where there is little 

or no risk to the home worker or others in the home environment no further action is 

taken. If a risk assessment indicates the need for action, The Council is committed to 

putting in place appropriate controls to reduce the risk as far as is reasonably 

practicable. Home workers are covered by existing health and safety law in the same 

way as any other worker within the organisation. 

 
3.15 Inspection by Outside Authorities 

The Council seeks to co-operate with inspecting officers from outside authorities who 

have inspection and enforcement powers and other duties relating to health, safety 

and fire safety. 

 

Where defects are found as a result of an inspection, The Council will co-operate with 

the enforcing authority to ensure that risks are managed and controlled effectively in 

order to prevent harm and to achieve compliance with the law. 

 

3.16 Legionellosis Control 

The Council, in partnership with Place Partnership Ltd until 31st March 2019, will take 

steps to identify potential Legionellosis hazards in water systems within properties 

under our control, and to take steps to prevent or minimise the risk of exposure to 

Legionella bacteria. All water systems that could be a potential source of infection will 

be identified and assessed for risk. Where necessary, control schemes will be 

implemented to ensure the risk of exposure is minimised and instructions and training 

is provided for relevant staff to ensure those control schemes are operated in an 

effective manner. 

 

Page 40



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 31 of 33 

 
 

3.17 Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment 

The Council, in partnership with Place Partnership Ltd until 31st March 2019, will 

ensure that lifting equipment provided for use at work is: 

 

 Strong and stable enough for the particular use and marked to indicate safe 

working loads;  

 

 Positioned and installed to minimise any risks;  

 

 Used safely, i.e. the work load is planned, organised and performed by 

competent people; and  

 

 Subject to ongoing thorough examination and, where appropriate, inspection by 

competent people.  

 

3.18 Manual Handling 

The Council has measures that avoid the need for personnel to undertake any manual 

handling operation that involves a risk of injury. Where this is not possible to achieve, 

an assessment of the manual handling operations will be conducted and measures 

introduced to reduce the risk of injury to the lowest level reasonably practicable. 

Personnel will be provided with training and information relating to manual handling 

operations that they are required to undertake. 

  

Managers and Supervisors are responsible for ensuring that manual handling 

assessments are carried out in areas for which they are responsible and that effective 

measures are implemented to control the risks identified, (e.g. safe systems of work, 

additional equipment, training of staff etc.). 

 

3.19 Monitoring Health and Safety 

The Council will ensure that appropriate standards of workplace safety and health are 

maintained and statutory health and safety requirements are complied with. This 

includes monitoring and measurement of the effectiveness of its health and safety 

management system to show that it has identified hazards, is managing the risks to 

all those it has a duty towards and is continuously improving its performance. 

 

3.20 Noise 

The Council will assess, identify and implement measures to eliminate or reduce risks 

from exposure to noise in the workplace in order to protect the hearing of its 

employees. 

 

Where required, The Council will ensure that: 

 

 Hearing protection is provided and used;  

 

Page 41



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 32 of 33 

 
 

 Any other controls are properly used; and  

 

 Information, training and health surveillance are provided.  

 

3.21 Personal Protective Equipment 

The Council will ensure, by undertaking suitable and sufficient risk assessments, that 

steps are taken to identify and then to eliminate or otherwise adequately control risks 

to the Health and Safety of its staff. Where it is not possible or reasonably practicable 

to adequately control risks to Health and Safety in other ways, staff will be provided 

with suitable personal protective equipment (PPE) for use in the workplace. Staff will 

also be provided with suitable and sufficient information, instruction and training on 

each item of PPE they are required to use. 

 

3.22 Personal Safety including Lone Working 

The Council seeks to control and manage the risks to staff that may arise from acts of 

violence, aggression, verbal, physical and psychological abuse. Any incident in which 

an individual is abused, threatened or assaulted in circumstances relating to their 

work must be reported and will be investigated in the same way as any other incident.  

This includes the personal safety of all staff, whether they work in groups, pairs or 

working alone. 

 

3.23 Risk Assessment 

The Council workplaces, equipment and systems of work will be subject to a 

programme of assessments intended to identify and select the measures necessary to 

protect employees, other persons and property by the elimination of hazards and/or 

the control of risks. Where necessary, suitable control measures are introduced to 

manage the level of risk. 

 
3.24 Training 

The Council will provide staff with adequate health and safety information, instruction, 

training and supervision as is necessary to ensure their health and safety at work. 

Training is provided as part of the induction process for all new starters in permanent 

and temporary positions. Training is also provided to all staff that are exposed to new 

or increased risks because of a change of job, work equipment or system of work. 

 

Training is repeated periodically as necessary to ensure an understanding of the risks 

and of the methods necessary to ensure that those risks are adequately controlled. 

 
3.25 Vibration 

The Council will assess, identify and implement measures to eliminate or reduce risks 

from exposure to mechanical vibration in order to protect the health of its employees 

in the workplace. 

 

Where required, The Council will ensure that control measures to reduce vibration are 

properly applied and that information, training and health surveillance are provided. 

Page 42



 

 

 

Corporate Health and Safety Policy [2018/Nov]                                     Page 33 of 33 

 
 

 
3.26 Work Equipment 

The Council will provide work equipment that is safe and suitable for the tasks it is 

required to do and ensures that it is inspected, tested and maintained as required. 

The Council will ensure that staff are provided with suitable and sufficient information, 

instruction and training on each item of work equipment they are required to use and 

that staff use the equipment in accordance with the information, instruction and 

training they were provided with. 

 
3.27 Working at Height 

The Council, in partnership with Place Partnership Ltd until 31st March 2019, will 

ensure that: 

 

 All work at height is properly planned and organised 

 Those involved in work at height are competent to do so 

 The risks from work at height are assessed and appropriate work equipment is 

selected and used;  

 The risks from fragile surfaces are properly controlled; and  

 Equipment for work at height is properly inspected and maintained.  

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Personnel & General Purposes Sub-Committee, 27th February 2019

Report of: Head of People Services

Subject: PURCHASE OF ADDITIONAL ANNUAL LEAVE 

1. Recommendation

1.1 That the Sub-Committee approves the Purchase of Additional Leave Policy.

2. Background

2.1 Two key elements of the Council’s People Strategy are to be able to attract and 
retain excellent people.  As part of this work we are continually looking for ways of 
improving our terms and conditions of employment. The ability to buy additional 
annual leave each year was identified by employees as an attractive option at the 
first round of staff conferences in 2018. 

3. Preferred Option 

3.1 The Purchase of Additional Annual leave Policy has been designed to allow 
employees to purchase up to 5 additional days leave in each leave year.

3.2 The scheme will work as a salary sacrifice scheme and as such will deliver significant 
tax and national insurance savings to employees and small employer national 
insurance savings.  The deductions will be taken in 12 monthly equal amounts when 
someone applies in advance of their annual leave year or monthly over what remains 
of year should an employee apply during their leave year.

4. Alternative Options Considered

4.1 There is no requirement on the Council to introduce such a scheme, but given that 
employees have suggested it and it delivers savings rather than costs there is a good 
argument for doing so. 

4.2 Not all authorities use a salary sacrifice approach to such schemes but most do so 
and it seems the most cost effective approach.

5. Implications

5.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications
There are tax and national insurance savings for employees and some savings in 
employer national insurance contributions.  Additionally the overall salary 
expenditure will reduce somewhat.

Page 45 Agenda Item 6



5.2 Legal and Governance Implications
We will need to put in place arrangements to ensure that salary deductions do not 
take employees pay below the national living wage or below the minimum wage for 
employees who are under 25.

5.3 Risk Implications
None identified

5.4 Corporate/Policy Implications
None identified

5.5 Equality Implications
None identified

5.6 Human Resources Implications
As described in the main body of the report.

5.7 Health and Safety Implications
None identified

5.8 Social, Environmental and Economic Implications
None identified

Ward(s): All
Contact Officer: Mark Edwards – mark.edwards@worcester.gov.uk – 01905 

722042
Background Papers: None 

Page 46

mailto:mark.edwards@worcester.gov.uk


Worcester City Council 

 

 

  Page 1 of 4 

 
 [Annual Leave Purchase] 

 

Worcester City Council 

ADDITIONAL ANNUAL LEAVE 

PURCHASE POLICY 
February 2019  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Title  Additional Annual Leave Purchase 

Status  Draft 

Document Version          V0.1 

Author  Mark Edwards 

Sponsor Shane Flynn 

Owner Finance & Resources Directorate 

Approved by  

Approved date  

Review frequency  

Next Review:  

Version History 

Version Date Description 

0.1 20/11/18 First draft 

   

   

Page 47 Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



Worcester City Council 

 

 

  Page 2 of 4 

 
 [Annual Leave Purchase] 

 

Contents 

  

1 Introduction .......................................................................................................... 3 
2 Eligability and Condidtions  
3        How the Policy will work  .................................................................................. 3 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



Worcester City Council 

 

 

  Page 3 of 4 

 
 [Annual Leave Purchase] 

1 Introduction 

As described in our People Strategy, the Council is committed to improving the 

overall quality of our employment package and improving the well-being of our 

workers.  

 

1.1 To this end this policy will allow employees to purchase up to 5 additional days 

in each leave year for whatever purpose they wish. 

 

1.2 The scheme will operate on a salary sacrifice basis so that employees pay less 

tax and national insurance contributions and the Council will see a small 

reduction in employer national insurance contributions.  Pension contributions 

and entitlement will not change.  The deductions will be taken monthly for 12 

months of the applicable leave year.  If the application is granted during the 

current leave year, all deductions will be taken over the remaining number of 

months available in the year.   The Council will realise additional savings 

through an overall reduction in the pay bill, but achieving this is not the primary 

motive for running the scheme. 

 

 

2.      Eligibility and Conditions 

 

2.1    To be eligible for the scheme an employee must be employed on a permanent     

         contact or a fixed term contract with more than 12 months remaining.  In     

         addition they must earn enough so that their pay after the salary sacrifice  

         deduction does not fall below the national living wage.  

 

2.2   The salary sacrifice will reduce net pay so it may have a small impact on     

        employees benefit entitlements. 

 

2.2   If an employee leaves the Council for whatever reason, they will be required to  

        repay the  outstanding value of any additional days leave taken from their final  

        salary. 

 

 

3.     How the Policy will work 

 

3.1   All requests for additional leave are subject to approval by the the Head of     

        People services.  

 

3.2   The costs will be deducted in equal amounts across the leave year.  The best  

        time to apply is around a month before your leave year starts so that we can  

        arrange to have the costs spread over a full 12 months.  You can apply at any  

        time during the leave year but that will involve larger monthly deductions over a  

        shorter period. 

Page 49



Worcester City Council 

 

 

  Page 4 of 4 

 
 [Annual Leave Purchase] 

 

3.3  Applications should be made should be made to People Services using the  

       Additional Annual Leave Application Form available from the Staff Room. People    

       Services will arrange for the appropriate deductions to be made and add the  

       additional leave on worklife. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50



Report to: Personnel & General Purposes Sub-Committee, 27th February 2019

Report of: Head of People Services 

Subject: SICKNESS ABSENCE MANAGEMENT POLICY

1. Recommendation

1.1 That this revised Sickness Absence Management Policy is approved by this 
Sub-Committee.

2. Background

1.1. A review of this policy has revealed that we do not explicitly acknowledge a role for 
Disability Leave.  This is a form of reasonable adjustment that recognises that some 
disabled employees may need to attend out patient type appointments and that 
these should not be treated as sickness absences.  We have amended our policy to 
incorporate this provision.   

1.2. The key change is:

a. Including Disability Leave within the Disability section of the sickness policy. 

3. Implications

3.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications
None.

3.2 Legal and Governance Implications
None.

3.3 Risk Implications
None. 

3.4 Corporate/Policy Implications
None.  

3.5 Equality Implications
The policy incorporates the Disability leave which is a reasonable adjustment within 
the Equality Act 2010.

3.6 Human Resources Implications
This is a key HR policy which must be communicated to all workers.

3.7 Health and Safety Implications
None Identified.

Page 51 Agenda Item 7



3.8    Social, Environmental and Economic Implications
None Identified.

Ward(s): All
Contact Officer: Mark Edwards, Telephone 01905 72042
                                      Email mark.edwards@worcester.gov.uk
Background Papers: None 

Page 52



Worcester City Council 

 

 

  Page 1 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

Field Code Changed

 

Worcester City Council 

SICKNESS ABSENCE 

MANAGEMENT POLICY 

& PROCEDURE 
DATE:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Title  Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

Status  Draft 

Document Version V0.1 

Author  Alison Darbyshire 

Sponsor Mark Edwards 

Owner People Services 

Approved by  

Approved date  

Review frequency Bi-annual 

Next Review: 2021 

Version History  

Version Date Description 

0.1 17/1/2019 First draft of amended policy to 

include disability leave clarification  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Page 53 Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



Worcester City Council 

 

 

  Page 2 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

Field Code Changed

Contents 

 

 

1 Purpose ............................................................................................................................ 3 

2 Scope ............................................................................................................................... 3 

2.1 Exclusions ........................................................................................................................ 3 

3 Sickness Absence Notification Procedure ........................................................................ 3 

4 Return to Work ................................................................................................................. 4 

4.1 Phased Return to Work .................................................................................................... 5 

5. Sick Pay ........................................................................................................................... 5 

6. Medical and dental appointments ..................................................................................... 5 

7. Annual leave ..................................................................................................................... 6 

8. Disabled employees ......................................................................................................... 6 

9. Absences relating to mental stress or physical strains ...................................................... 6 

10. Working during absences ................................................................................................. 7 

11. General ............................................................................................................................ 7 

12 Managing Sickness Absence ............................................................................................ 7 

12.1 Managing Short-term sickness absence procedure .......................................................... 7 
12.2 Managing Long-term sickness absence procedure ......................................................... 10 
12.3 Termination of Employment – Long Term Sickness absence ......................................... 11 

13 Appendix 1 ..................................................................................................................... 12 

13.1 Recording Sickness Absence Procedure ........................................................................ 12 
 

  

 

 

Page 54



Worcester City Council 

 

 

  Page 3 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

Field Code Changed

1 Purpose 

If our employees are absent from work and unable to perform their duties, the quality 

of the services we provide will suffer.  The purpose of this policy is to provide a 

framework to manage and support employees who are unable to work due to illness 

and either assist them back to work, or find an alternative solution as quickly as 

possible. 

2 Scope 

This Policy applies to all Worcester City Council employees. 

2.1 Exclusions  

Absence during the probation period will be dealt with under the probation process 

and is outside the scope of this policy, although absence during probation will count 

towards the 12 month rolling trigger points. 

Individuals who take unauthorised absence, or who abuse the sick pay provision 

(including taking sick leave when not genuinely medically sick, for instance to care for 

dependants, which should be requested under annual or special leave) or fail to 

follow the notification procedures will be dealt with under the disciplinary 

procedure as appropriate and may have their pay stopped for the period of 

unauthorised absence. 

3 Sickness Absence Notification Procedure 

Failure to follow this procedure may result in sick pay being delayed or withheld and 

may lead to action under the Disciplinary procedure for failing to follow procedure.   

At any time the Council may seek medical opinion as to an employee’s state of health.  

Employees may be required to undergo a medical examination by a doctor nominated 

by the Council.  Employees may not be allowed to return to work following sickness 

absence until the Council’s nominated doctor has declared them fit to return.  Where 

employees are declared fit by the Council’s nominated doctor they must return to 

work. 

Managers should keep in touch with staff during sickness absence to understand any 

areas of work which need to be covered and to offer support to sick employees as 

required. 

An occupational health assessment referral should be arranged for all employees after 

4 weeks of continual absence. 

Employees who are absent from work due to sickness or injury must: 

i. notify the Council via the dedicated sickness reporting process (see 

Appendix 1) by 9:30 am (or at least half an hour before the beginning of their 

shift if service area requirements so justify) on their first day of absence.  A 

telephone call from the employee is required on the first notification and to 

Page 55



Worcester City Council 

 

 

  Page 4 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

Field Code Changed

maintain contact throughout the absence (although in exceptional 

circumstances whereby the employee is unable to phone, the employee may 

allow a family or friend to phone through their notification on their behalf);   

ii. give a reason for the absence and an anticipated return date which will be 

agreed with the Council’s sickness reporting contact and to maintain regular 

contact, if the return date is not known).  If unable to return to work by the 

date stated the employee must again notify the Council via the agreed 

notification process; 

iii. ensure they submit a ‘Fit note’ that states not fit for work to People 

Services, issued by a doctor (officially entitled  ‘Statement of Fitness for Work 

For social security or Statutory Sick Pay’) to cover for sickness absence of more 

than seven calendar days.  In addition, the Council reserves the right to 

request a Doctors Certificate when it is not required for SSP purposes, 

reimbursing the cost if necessary.  

iv. If follow-on certificates are issued by their doctor, each day must be covered 

without any break, otherwise pay will be affected.  It is the employee’s 

responsibility to make a doctor’s appointment to get continuation certificates 

before the previous one expires and to contact the agreed notification process to 

make them aware that they will remain off sick.  Doctors are not obliged to 

back-date certificates. 

4 Return to Work 

On return to work from sickness absence every employee is required to report their 

return to work in accordance with the sickness reporting process.  In addition 

employees are required to attend a return to work meeting with their line 

manager and a Return to Work Meeting must be held for all absences in accordance 

with the notification process.  

The line manager is responsible for ensuring that the return to work meeting takes 

place as soon as practicable on an employees return to work, but no later than 7 

calendar days (If the line manager is absent beyond this period another appropriate 

manager should hold this meeting to avoid unnecessary delay in ensuring the 

employee has the support in place to return to work).   

This meeting should:  

i. enable early identification of any issue which can impact on performance or the 

ability to attend work 

ii. establish what, if any, support can be offered to the employee at the earliest 

opportunity (including Occupational health referral, Counselling, light duties or 

reduced hours for phased return etc.)  

Page 56



Worcester City Council 

 

 

  Page 5 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

Field Code Changed

iii. ensure the employee is aware of Worcester City Council’s expectations 

regarding attendance and the operation of this policy 

iv. review the sickness history to identify if a trigger has been reached or if there 

are any absence patterns that are of concern e.g. absences on specific days in 

the year (e.g. birthday), absences starting or ending adjacent to non-working 

days. 

4.1 Phased Return to Work 

A Doctor may state that an employee may be fit for work taking account of the 

following advice:  

“If available, and with your employer’s agreement, you may benefit from:  

 a phased return to work;  
 altered hours;  
 amended duties;  

 workplace adaptations.” 

If this is recommended, agreement must be made with the employee and their line 

manager on how to proceed with advice from People Services as appropriate.    

5. Sick Pay 

In accordance with the Collective Agreement to modify terms and conditions of 

employment 2012, sick pay is payable during absence from 1 April 2013 as follows:- 

During 1st year of service 1 month at 90% pay (and after completing 4 months 

service) 2 months half pay. 

During 2nd year of service 2 months pay at 90% and 2 months half pay 

During 3rd year of service 4 months pay at 90% and 4 months half pay 

During 4th & 5th year of 

service 

5 months pay at 90% and 5 months half pay 

After 5 years service 6 months pay at 90% and 6 months half pay 

6. Medical and dental appointments 

It is expected that every effort must be made to arrange such appointments outside 

normal working hours (see also flexible working hours guidelines).  Where this is not 

possible, they should be booked at the start or end of the shift to minimise disruption 

to the working day.  Reasonable notice must be given to the line manager, who may 

also request appointment cards/letters in order to grant paid time off as appropriate. 

Page 57



Worcester City Council 

 

 

  Page 6 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

Field Code Changed

7. Annual leave 

Employees who fall ill whilst on pre-booked annual leave will be credited for the leave 

booked with effect from the date the doctor’s certificate was signed. 

During periods of ill-health, employees will continue to accrue annual leave.  Statutory 

leave as defined in the Working Time Directive may be carried forward to the following 

year if it is not taken due to sickness absence.  Annual leave in excess of statutory 

leave will be lost. 

Employees who are ill during public holidays or fixed days cannot re-claim annual 

leave. 

Where an employee has exhausted their sick pay, it may be authorised that they take 

and be paid for annual leave during sick leave. 

8. Disabled employees 

The Council is committed to supporting and retaining its disabled employees, and 

employees are encouraged to disclose any disability they have to their line 

manager/People Services to access support. 

Disabled employees may be referred to Occupational Health for advice on what 

adjustments the Council can make to their responsibilities, equipment or workplace, 

to enable them to carry out the functions of their post, such adjustments to be made 

in consultation with the employee, and the effectiveness monitored over a period of 

time. 

Disability Leave:  Disability Leave is a form of reasonable adjustment in line with 

the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 and enables employee’s to take paid time 

away from work for pre-planned appointments or treatments, related to an 

employee’s disability, that help maintain health and wellbeing. Disability Leave is 

available to employees who are registered as disabled with the Council and must be 

agreed by the line manager and People Services for a specified reason.  This is paid 

time off and should not be used for disability related sickness absence.  Where a 

disabled employee’s condition is likely to lead to frequent, short-term sickness 

absences, this will be taken into consideration when monitoring attendance. 

9. Absences relating to mental stress or physical strains 

Where an absence occurs relating to stress or strain the employee will be given the 

opportunity as soon as possible to be referred to the approved Counsellor or 

Physiotherapist.  All such referrals are to be arranged by People Services and any 

costs are to be met by the Council. 

If employees are absent relating to stress they should be referred to Occupational 

Health at the earliest opportunity. 

Page 58



Worcester City Council 

 

 

  Page 7 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

Field Code Changed

10. Working during absences 

Employee’s should not undertake any work – paid or otherwise – during their 

absence unless this is agreed by the Head of Service, although it is likely that such 

agreement will be withheld.  If therapeutic work is recommended the Council should 

be informed and will provide it where possible. 

11. General 

If an employee abuses the sickness scheme or is absent on account of sickness due 

or attributable to deliberate conduct prejudicial to recovery or the employee’s own 

misconduct or neglect or active participation in professional sport or injury while 

working in the employee’s own time on their own account or for private gain or for 

another employer sick pay may be suspended. 

12 Managing Sickness Absence 

There are two types of sickness absence, short term and long term (continuous over 

four weeks) absence, each requiring a different approach.  Formal warnings for 

sickness absence may be issued for both short term and long term sickness absence 

and may be considered together. 

12.1 Managing Short-term sickness absence procedure 

Absence in a 12 month rolling period which meets any of the following criteria and 

does not exceed 4 weeks continuous absence will be dealt with under the short term 

sickness absence procedure: 

i. Four periods of absence, or 

ii. A total of six working days or more, or 

iii. Absence trends/patterns such as around non-working days, birthdays etc. 

12.1.1 Sickness absence meetings 

When an employee hits a trigger point, there will be a sickness absence meeting 

where the line manager will consider all the individual circumstances in accordance 

with the procedure set out below.  As a formal warning for sickness absence may be 

issued as an outcome of the meeting, the procedure must be carefully adhered to. 

The Line manager will invite the employee to a meeting, in writing giving a minimum 

of 3 working days notice.  The letter will remind them of their right to be accompanied 

(by a trade union representative, colleague or an official employed by a trade union). 

The meeting will be led by the line manager, and will have the purpose of fact finding, 

where possible establishing the cause of any absence and to offer assistance based on 

individual circumstances.  The line manager will cover the following matters as 

appropriate during the meeting: 

Page 59



Worcester City Council 

 

 

  Page 8 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

Field Code Changed

i. Identify the frequency and reason for the absences and ensure that the 

employee is aware that their absence record may be giving cause for concern, 

and highlighting the impact on the rest of the team or authority. 

ii. Advise the employee to seek medical attention to determine if there are 

grounds to consider that there might be an underlying medical problem, or 

refer to OH as appropriate, 

iii. Give consideration to personal problems which may be causing the absences 

and offer possible ways of helping the employee to resolve them, 

iv. If any temporary or permanent redeployment or reduction of duties/reasonable 

adjustment, or ill health retirement is required, 

v. Explore whether the absences may be due to a work related injury; a disability 

defined within the Equality Act; or pregnancy, and take advice from the HR lead 

as appropriate, 

vi. Agree a reasonable time within which the employee’s attendance can be 

assessed over the following 3 months, 

vii. Confirm whether or not a formal warning for sickness absence will be issued on 

this occasion, providing reasons for the decision and indicate the next stage of 

the procedure if attendance does not improve, what constitutes satisfactory 

improvement will depend on the circumstances of the case, but in most cases 

an employee will be deemed to have improved sufficiently if they would not 

have reached the trigger points defined in 12.1 during the most recent 12 

months at the time of the review. 

viii. Indicate that if sickness absence continues at a high level then the employee 

may be excluded from participating in any additional hours/overtime 

The line manager must confirm in writing the outcome of the meeting within 7 

working days and place a copy on the personnel file.  The letter must include:  

 details of who attended the meeting and when it was held,  

 what was discussed and the actions agreed for both employee and line manager 

with relevant timescales (no longer than 3 months although a subsequent 

meeting can be held within this period if absence continues to be poor); 

 confirmation on whether or not the outcome is a formal warning for sickness 

absence providing reasons for the decision and clarification that further 

absence may result in the employee receiving subsequent formal warnings for 

sickness absence, clarifying that 3 formal warnings for sickness absence in a 

rolling 12 month period will result in a sickness hearing which could result in 

dismissal. (Warnings under the Sickness Absence Management procedure and 

the Disciplinary procedure will remain separate and will not affect each other). 

Page 60



Worcester City Council 

 

 

  Page 9 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

Field Code Changed

Where attendance has not improved following the first meeting (for further sickness 

absence that is over and above the initial trigger), the manager will convene another 

meeting as above but subsequent meetings will be accompanied by the relevant HR 

lead.  Meetings will be followed up in writing within 7 working days, issuing a 1st, 2nd 

and 3rd formal warning as appropriate. 

 

12.1.2 Short-term sickness hearing which could lead to dismissal  

i. Following the issue of 3 formal warnings in a rolling 12 month period, the 

employee will be invited to a sickness hearing which could lead to dismissal, in 

writing: 

 Stating that they may be accompanied by a trade union representative, 

colleague or an official employed by a trade union. 

 Informing the employee that as a result of the meeting, their contract of 

employment may be terminated stating that the reason for dismissal is likely 

to be “some other substantial reason” and will usually be incapability due to 

persistent intermittent absence as a consequence of ill health although it may 

also be “Capability due to underlying health issues”.  

 And provided with a copy of the line manager’s report for consideration at the 

dismissal meeting.   

ii. The Dismissal meeting will be chaired by either a Head of Service or other 

manager delegated with the authority to dismiss and must be accompanied by 

a member of People Services. 

iii. The purpose of the meeting is to consider all information in relation to the 

absences, including Occupational Health advice.  If appropriate the hearing 

manager may ask for further medical advice. 

iv. The hearing manager should consider whether or not alternative employment, 

reasonable adjustments to the current role or ill-health retirement could and 

have been recommended prior to the decision to terminate employment. 

v. If it is decided following the meeting that the contract of employment will be 

terminated, then the employee must be given due notice/pay in lieu of notice 

and any other additional outstanding payments e.g. annual leave. 

vi. The outcome of the meeting must be communicated in writing, within 7 working 

days, by the hearing manager to the employee.  The letter must state that the 

employee has a right of appeal which must be submitted in writing with full 

reasons to the Managing Director within 10 working days of the receipt of the 

written notification of the dismissal. 

 

Page 61



Worcester City Council 

 

 

  Page 10 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

Field Code Changed

12.2 Managing Long-term sickness absence procedure 

Long term sickness absence is defined as a period of medically certified sickness 

which is continuous for at least four weeks. 

12.2.1. When an employee is suffering a long term illness, Line Managers are 

expected to exercise judgement in respect of the appropriate timing of 

Occupational Health referrals and the scheduling of meetings based on the 

individual circumstances (e.g. it may not be appropriate to make arrangements 

if the employee is seriously ill or could not reasonably be expected to attend).  

People Services can advise as appropriate. 

12.2.2. Normally after four weeks, or earlier if long term absence can be predicted, 

the manager should invite the employee to a meeting, accompanied by the 

relevant HR lead.  This must be confirmed in writing and may take place either 

at the employee’s home or workplace if their medical condition allows (the 

employee may be accompanied by a trade union representative, colleague or 

an official employed by a trade union).   

The meeting will 

i.  Help to gain further information relating to the absence, 

ii.  Inform the employee that they will be referred to either the national ‘Fit for 

Work’ scheme or Occupational Health to establish the likely length of the 

absence and the long term effect on capability in relation to job performance 

and attendance at work, 

iii.  Address, where possible, any needs or concerns of the employee, 

iv.  Determine whether the employee may qualify as having a disability under the 

Equality Act 2010, 

v.  Consider offering appropriate alternative work if this would enable the 

employee to return to work 

12.2.3. On receipt of the Occupational Health report a further meeting will be 

arranged with the line manager, HR lead, employee and their representative if 

requested.  The purpose of the meeting will be to discuss the report and to give 

consideration to the options available which may include: 

i.   The employee being expected to be fully fit for their duties on an on-going 

basis in the near future, setting a possible start date and possibly including a 

phased return to work and/or temporary modification of duties for an interim 

duration, 

ii.  The employee being capable of undertaking modified duties, giving 

consideration to making reasonable adjustments within the workplace (e.g. 

amended duties, part-time working, re-deployment, re-training) 

Page 62



Worcester City Council 

 

 

  Page 11 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

Field Code Changed

iii.  If no improvement can be expected in the short term, stating when reviews 

will take place and whether the employee requires further medical treatment 

or referral 

12.2.4.  Should the individual be unable to fulfil the duties of a post within the 

Council for the foreseeable future, considering whether an application for 

retirement on the grounds of ill health is recommended (an Occupational health 

doctor will be required to assess the case and any ill health retirement 

recommendations will be subject to the discretion of the employer). The 

employee must provide a contact point during the absence and maintain 

contact with their line manager, keeping them informed of any changes in 

condition and at regular intervals.  The manager will be able to contact the 

employee directly or via family members or other intermediaries (e.g. 

Occupational Health) depending on the medical condition and advice.  If an 

employee refuses to maintain contact sick pay may be withheld and the 

Disciplinary procedure may be invoked. 

12.2.5. Dependant on circumstances, the employee may not be allowed to return to 

work until Occupational Health has declared them fit to return.  Where declared 

fit an employee must return to work. 

12.2.6. A formal warning for sickness absence may be issued where appropriate for 

staff who are absent for more than 4 weeks.  This must be confirmed in writing 

to the employee, clarifying that 3 formal warnings in a rolling 12 month period 

may result in dismissal. 

12.3 Termination of Employment – Long Term Sickness absence 

12.3.1. Where it is established through medical opinion that there is no possibility of 

the employee returning to work within a reasonable period of time and/or 

where none of the previous options are appropriate, or 3 formal sickness 

absence warnings in a 12 months period have been issued, the employee’s 

contract may be terminated.  During the consultation process, if the employee 

disagrees with the medical opinion, he/she should be given a reasonable 

opportunity to obtain a second opinion.  They will be responsible for any cost 

involved and must make the resulting report available to the Council if it is to 

be taken into account. 

12.3.2. During the consultation process, the employee must be given time to 

consider the various options.  For the individual concerned it is a potentially 

traumatic process and needs to be handled with sensitivity and compassion. 

12.3.3. If termination of employment on grounds of incapacity is given, notice will 

be based on full pay, even if the sick pay entitlement is exhausted, or pay in 

lieu of notice may be given (N.B. Dismissal may take place before sick pay 

expires). 

Page 63



Worcester City Council 

 

 

  Page 12 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

Field Code Changed

12.3.4.  Employees have a right of appeal against termination of employment on 

health grounds and must be advised of that right.  Any appeal must state the 

detailed reason to the Managing Director within 10 working days of receipt of 

the letter confirming the decision.  

13 Appendix 1 

13.1 Recording Sickness Absence Procedure  

Firstcare has been contracted to manage absence reporting on behalf of Worcester City Council 

with effect from 1 April 2018. 

Page 64



Worcester City Council 

 

 

  Page 13 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

Field Code Changed

 

DAY 1:  

Employee notifies 
sickness absence by 
phoning FirstCare on 

0333 321 8197 by 
9:30am if on 

flexitime, or half an 
hour before the start 

of their shift   

FirstCare 
notify the 
Council of 

the absence 

 Employees must provide 
Doctors ‘Fit notes’ to 

People Services to cover 
for sickness absence of 

more than 7 calendar days 
or immediately before or 

after annual leave.  

Employee calls 
FirstCare on 0333 
321 8197 to notify 

any changes to their 
sickness absence 

(duration/reason/ 
treatment) 

Employee calls 
Firstcare on 0333 

321 8197 to notify 
the end of their 

absence up to 24 
hours prior to return 
to work but no less 
than 60 mins before 

shift . 

Firstcare 
notify the 
Council of 
the end of 

the absence 

Manager holds a Return 
to work meeting with 

employee within 7 
calendar days then 

completes and uploads 
the RTW form to FirstCare 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Personnel & General Purposes Sub-Committee, 27th February 2019

Report of:  Head of People Services 

Subject: REVIEW OF DECISION MAKING ON VOLUNTARY REDUNDANCIES

1. Recommendation

1.1 That the Sub-Committee agrees to the proposed changes to the Council’s 
policy on voluntary redundancy decision making.

2. Background

2.1 At the meeting of this Committee on 11 July 2018 the Corporate Director for Finance 
& Resources presented a report detailing two voluntary redundancies that had been 
agreed by officers following the criteria agreed by Cabinet in December 2016.  The 
Cabinet decision related to affordability and stated that where the cost of the 
redundancy was less than the value of 2.6 years salary and the post was to be 
deleted from the structure, such that whole of the financial benefit was achieved, the 
request should be approved.

2.2 The Committee expressed some concern about the lack of member involvement in 
potentially costly decisions and asked officers to review the existing process.

3. Preferred Option 

3.1 Voluntary redundancy decisions are most often taken in restructuring situations 
where the Council is trying to achieve efficiency gains or cost reductions without 
recourse to compulsory redundancies.  As detailed in the constitution, such decisions 
are delegated to the Managing Director under his authority to ‘appoint, discipline, 
suspend or dismiss any employee below Corporate Director’.  It is recognised, 
however, that some voluntary redundancies represent a significant financial outlay 
which may have a wider bearing on the Council’s finances. It is appropriate therefore 
for Members to have a clearer oversight of the implementation of this policy.  

3.2 In addition it is understood that the government intends to implement the 
anticipated public sector exit payments cap regulations in the autumn of this year 
and that the cap is likely to be set at £95,000.   It is therefore proposed that prior to 
the publication of those regulations any voluntary redundancy with total exit costs of 
more than £95,000 should be referred to this Committee for approval.  All other 
voluntary redundancies will remain as officer decisions, but will be reported to this 
committee.

3.3 When the full details and implementation date for the exit cap are known, a further 
report will be brought to the Committee.

Page 67 Agenda Item 8



4. Alternative Options Considered

4.1 Not changing the current arrangements is rejected for the reasons described in 
section 3.

4.2 Given that new national regulations are expected later in this calendar year it may 
be appropriate to wait until the nature of the regulations is clear. However, the 
change is proposed now, to recognise the concerns set out at paragraph 3.1.

5. Implications

5.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications
No implications directly arising although the committee may in some circumstances 
be altering some exit costs by not agreeing to proposed voluntary redundancy.

5.2 Legal and Governance Implications
None directly arising

5.3 Risk Implications
There is small risk that proposed restructures may have to be altered and incur 
additional revenue costs.
 

5.4 Corporate/Policy Implications
This proposal will amend the Council’s current policy on making voluntary 
redundancy decisions.  

5.5 Equality Implications
None directly arising 

5.6 Human Resources Implications
None directly arising 

5.7 Health and Safety Implications
None directly arising 

5.8 Social, Environmental and Economic Implications
None directly arising 

Ward(s): All 
Contact Officer: Mark Edwards – Tel 01905 722042 – 

mark.edwards@worcester.gov.uk 
Background Papers: None  

Page 68

mailto:mark.edwards@worcester.gov.uk


Report to: Personnel & General Purposes Sub-Committee, 27th February 2019

Report of:  Head of People Services 

Subject: ANNUAL SAFEGUARDING UPDATE

1. Recommendation

1.1 That the Sub-Committee notes the Council progress and current position 
with regard to our safeguarding responsibilities.

2. Background

2.1 Following the Children’s Safeguarding Board section 11 audit of us and other partner 
organisations in Worcestershire we updated our safeguarding action plan.  An 
additional action was to annually update the Personnel and General Purposes Sub 
Committee on our position on safeguarding.  This paper serves to provide that 
update.

3. Information 

3.1 The 2018 Section 11 audit evidenced that the Council has sound and robust 
arrangements for discharging its safeguarding responsibilities.  

3.2 The Council has a clear Safeguarding Policy – Appendix 1, which along with its 
appendices explains our approach and what employees need to do if they have any 
concerns.  The Policy will be updated shortly to include modern slavery as one of the 
types of harm affecting both children and adults.

3.3 The Council has an established group of safeguarding advisors who lead on 
safeguarding and refer on concerns to the appropriate body.  The group has recently 
been enlarged to cover all of our main work locations.  The safeguarding advisors 
meet quarterly to review our position and monitor the handling of recent cases.  The 
Council’s lead officer for safeguarding, currently the Director for Homes and 
Communities attends these meetings.  The advisors group also manages the delivery 
of a safeguarding action plan designed to ensure that our approach to safeguarding 
is constantly updated and improved.

3.4 The Council arranges for all staff to receive safeguarding training either on-line or 
group sessions which has to be refreshed every two years.  All staff who have not 
completed the training in the last 12 months are being required to retrain in the 
period from 17 December 2018 to 28 February 2019.  Child sexual Exploitation 
(CSE) and Prevent modules have been added to the training.  We will add a further 
module covering modern slavery later this year.  With regard to member training, 
the on-line module is available to all members.  Additionally a Safeguarding Update 
briefing will be offered to members in the spring with a particular focus on CSE, 
Prevent and Modern Slavery.  A Safeguarding briefing will also be added to the new 
members induction programme. 

Page 69 Agenda Item 9



3.5 In 2018 nine safeguarding referrals were made to Social Services by Worcester City 
Council Staff mostly concerning children and young people no particular trends or 
new areas of concern were identified.  

3.6 The Council uses our Internal Audit Shared Service to carry out critical friend audits 
to give some assurance over our arrangements and suggest improvements.  The last 
audit was carried out in 2017 and a second such audit is planned for 2019/20.

Ward(s): All
Contact Officer: Mark Edwards – 01905 722042 – 

mark.edwards@worcester.gov.uk
Background Papers: None 

 
 

Page 70



 Worcester City Council 

SAFEGUARDING POLICY 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Title  Safeguarding Policy 
Status  APPROVED 
Document Version V1.3 
Author  Mark Edwards 
Sponsor Andrew Round 
Owner Director of Place 
Approved by Personnel & General Purposes 

Committee 
Approved date 17 October 2013 
Review frequency Bi-Annual 
Next Review: October 2019 

Version History 
Version Date Description 
0.1 20062013 Initial Draft 
0.2 11072013 Draft  
0.3  18072013 Draft 
0.4 31072013 Draft  
0.5 19092013 Amendment to 

draft 
1.0 17102013 Finalised 
1.1 07072014 Amendment to 

self-declaration 
1.2 21012015 Amendment to 

reporting and 
consent section 

1.3 28022017 Updated Advisors  
1.4 23052018 Updated advisers, 

links and contacts 

Page 71 Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 2 

Contents 
 
Safeguarding Policy ..................................................................................... 3 
1.0 Introduction ........................................................................................ 3 
2.0 Purpose .............................................................................................. 3 
3.0 Scope ................................................................................................ 4 
4.0 Principles ............................................................................................ 4 
5.0 Definitions .......................................................................................... 5 
6.0 Roles and Responsibilities ..................................................................... 6 
7.0 Legal Framework ................................................................................. 7 
8.0 Recruitment ........................................................................................ 7 
9.0 Training ............................................................................................. 8 

9.1 Induction....................................................................................... 9 
10.0 Safeguarding Procedures ...................................................................... 9 

10.1 Photography/Filming ....................................................................... 9 
10.2 Unofficial photographic and filming opportunities taken by hirers and 

users of council venues and services .............................................. 10 
10.3 Internet and Social Media .............................................................. 10 

11.0 Reporting and Recording Procedures .................................................... 11 
12.0 Information Sharing and Consent/Confidentiality ................................... 11 
13.0 Internal enquiries and suspension ....................................................... 12 
14.0 Allegations against a safeguarding advisor ............................................ 12 
15.0 Complaints about the safeguarding policy ............................................. 12 
16.0 Confidentiality ................................................................................... 13 
17.0 Support for Staff ............................................................................... 13 
18.0 Key Contacts .................................................................................... 13 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 72



 3 

Safeguarding Policy 
 
1.0 Introduction 

 
This policy reflects the commitment of the Council to safeguard children and adults 
at risk.  This policy sets out the Council’s responsibility to ensure children, young 
people and adults at risk are kept safe from harm. 
 
This policy should be used in conjunction with the supplementary guidance 
provided in the ‘Safeguarding adults: multi agency policy and procedures for the 
West Midlands’ document and the ‘West Mercia Consortium Inter Agency Child 
Protection Procedures for Safeguarding Children’.  These documents provide 
further guidance and specific procedural information which should be referred to as 
appropriate.  

 
We expect agencies and organisations and other stakeholders that we work with or 
who hire or manage our facilities, to adhere to our procedures as a minimum 
standard and operate their own effective safeguarding policy. 
 
Whilst it is not our job to establish whether or not abuse has/is taking place, it is 
everyone’s responsibility to report any concerns we have over the welfare of 
children or adults at risk.  This duty extends to the identification of abuse, poor 
practice by internal members/staff or anyone working on behalf of/delivering or 
representing the Council, as well as allegations brought to the attention of the 
Council by a member of the public.   
 
This policy outlines that the Council’s primary concern is to ensure that information 
is recorded and passed onto the designated Safeguarding Advisors without delay, 
so that it can be actioned and referred to the appropriate agency.  

 
2.0 Purpose 

 
The purpose of this policy and procedures is to protect and promote the welfare of 
children and adults at risk using or receiving services provided or commissioned by 
the Council, and to support the Council’s officers, elected members and volunteers 
in fulfilling their statutory responsibilities. 
 
This policy is for all members of Worcester City Council staff, elected Members, 
volunteers or anyone working on behalf of, delivering a service for or representing 
the Council.   
 

Page 73

http://westmidlands.procedures.org.uk/
http://westmidlands.procedures.org.uk/
http://westmidlands.procedures.org.uk/


 4 

3.0 Scope 
 

The Council recognises that Worcestershire County Council and West Mercia Police 
are the lead agencies in the county with regard to child protection and 
safeguarding.  However, the Council also recognises that everyone has a 
responsibility for protecting children and adults at risk, including all employees and 
elected Members.   
 
This means that Council Members, employees, volunteers and contracted service 
providers should take action when they suspect or recognise that a child, young 
person or vulnerable adult may be a victim of harm or abuse.   
 
This policy relates to all children under the age of 18 and adults at risk regardless 
of gender, age, ethnicity, disability, sexual orientation, religion or cultural 
background. 
 
This policy outlines how the Council will meet its legal obligations, provides clear 
guidelines for protecting and safeguarding children and adults at risk, and the 
process for reporting concerns or incidents of abuse. 
 
This policy covers all Members, employees and volunteers at the Council, including 
those who work/represent or deliver a service on behalf of the Council. 

  
4.0 Principles  

 

The guidance provided in this policy and subsequent procedures is based on the 
following principles: 
 

• The welfare of children and adults at risk is the primary concern 
• All children and adults at risk have the right to protection from abuse 
• It is everyone’s responsibility to report any concerns about abuse  
• All incidents of alleged poor practice, misconduct and abuse will be taken 

seriously and responded to swiftly and appropriately 
• Employees are expected to adopt and abide by the Council’s Employee Code 

of Conduct and the Council’s Safeguarding Policy and Procedures 
• The Council will recruit, train and supervise its employees and others 

working on behalf of the Council to follow the safeguarding procedures to 
protect children and adults at risk from abuse and to reduce the likelihood of 
allegations made against employees 

• Work together in cooperation with other local authorities and other bodies in 
order to provide the most effective means of safeguarding children and 
adults at risk  
 

Page 74



 5 

Individual roles and responsibilities are included at 6.0.  For further detail on 
the role of the Council’s Safeguarding Advisors see Appendix 1. 
 

5.0 Definitions  
 

• The term child, or young person, is used to refer to anyone under the age 
of 18 years 

• The term parent is used as a generic term to represent parent, carers and 
guardians 

• The term employee refers to staff, elected Members, volunteers and 
anyone working on behalf of, delivering a service for or representing the 
Council 

• The term adult(s) at risk replaces the term vulnerable adult and refers to 
a person aged 18 or over who is in receipt or who is or may be in need of 
community care services by reason of mental or other disability, age or 
illness, and who is or may be unable to take care of him or herself, or 
unable to protect him or herself against significant harm or exploitation. 

• An alert is a concern that an adult at risk or child is or may be a victim of 
abuse or neglect.  An alert may be a result of disclosure, an incident or 
other signs or indicators. 

• The term carer refers to unpaid carers – for example; relatives or friends of 
the adult at risk.  Paid workers, including personal assistants whose job title 
may be ‘carer’ are called ‘staff’.   

• Council services – this includes anyone working on behalf of, delivering a 
service for or representing the Council for example; contracted service 
providers, shared services etc. 

• The term DBS (Disclosure Barring Service) refers to merge of the Criminal 
Records Bureau (CRB) and the Independent Safeguarding Authority into the 
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS).  CRB checks are now called DBS 
checks.  A DBS check may be needed for certain jobs or voluntary work 
when working with children or adults at risk.  

• There are four broad types of abuse: physical abuse, emotional abuse, 
sexual abuse and neglect.  Full definitions can be found in Chapter 1.3 West 
Midlands Consortium Inter Agency Child Protection Procedures for 
Safeguarding Children available from 
http://westmidlands.procedures.org.uk/  

• Abuse can also take the form of bullying.  A definition and indicators of 
bullying can be found at Appendix 2 

• A referral is the same as an alert; however an alert becomes a referral 
when the details lead to a safeguarding investigation/assessment relating to 
the concerns reported. 

• A Safeguarding Advisor is responsible for giving advice and support to 
employees in responding to concerns regarding the safety and welfare of 

Page 75

http://westmidlands.procedures.org.uk/


 6 

children and adults at risk.  Advisors are responsible for referring 
information to Worcestershire Safeguarding Children/Adult Board and 
ensuring the procedures stated in this policy are being adhered to. 

• Worcestershire Safeguarding Children Board (WSCB) is the board that 
replaces the Area Child Protection Committee.  WSCB coordinates work of 
broad partners to ensure that they are effective in safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of children.  
 

6.0 Roles and Responsibilities 
 

The roles and responsibilities of Members, officers, volunteers and contractors are 
outlined below: 
 
a) Managing Director is responsible for approving this policy and ensuring 

related procedures are implemented, monitored and consistently reviewed on a 
regular basis. 
 

b) The lead Member is the Leader of the Council and they are responsible for 
ensuring the implementation, consistent monitoring and improvements of the 
safeguarding policy and related procedures 
 

c) Safeguarding Advisor is responsible for dealing with reports or concerns 
about the protection of children and adults at risk appropriately and in 
accordance with the procedures that are set out within the policy.     
 

d) Managers must ensure that vacancies are assessed to determine whether a 
DBS is required and ensure that appropriate employees are subject to 
Disclosure & Barring Service (DBS) checks and that their staff comply with this 
policy and the related procedures. 
 

e) Team Managers are responsible for ensuring that employees follow this policy 
and its related procedures and receive safeguarding training and the support 
they need in line with their responsibilities and level of contact with children 
and adults at risk. 
 

f) All Members, employees and volunteers are responsible for carrying out 
their duties in a way that actively safeguards and promotes the welfare of 
children and adults at risk.  They must also act in a way that protects them 
from wrongful allegations of abuse as far as possible.  They must bring 
safeguarding concerns to the attention of safeguarding advisors. 
 

g) Commissioined services, contractors, sub-contractors or other 
organisations funded by or on behalf of the Council are responsible for 

Page 76



 7 

applying the appropriate DBS checks, delivering safeguarding training reflective 
of their level of contact with children and adults at risk, and ensuring that their 
employees comply with their own safeguarding policy and procedures.  The 
Council has a responsibility to monitor these requirements and ensure they are 
carried out. 
 

7.0 Legal Framework 
 
The Council, although not primarily responsible for children’s social care or 
education or adult social care, has a legal duty to report and refer information 
regarding concerns about children or adults at risk to the Worcestershire 
Safeguarding Adults/Children’s board and Independent Safeguarding Authority as 
appropriate.   
 
This duty is found in section 11 of the Children Act 2004, which places a duty on 
organisations and individuals to ensure that their functions are discharged with 
regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.  Section 10 
of the Children Act 2004 also requires each local authority to cooperate with all 
relevant partners to improve the wellbeing of children in the authority’s are, which 
includes protection from harm or neglect.   
 
The Children Act 1989 gives local authorities a duty to make enquiries to decide 
whether they should take action to safeguard or promote the welfare of a child 
who is suffering, or likely to suffer, significant harm.  Children’s Social Care is the 
lead agency for making these enquiries, in conjunction with the Police where it is 
suspected that a criminal offence may have been committed. 

 
 
 
8.0 Recruitment 

 
The Council has a recruitment policy which must be followed for all staff 
appointments.  The policy can be found on the Council’s intranet or fromPeople 
Services.  In summary, 
 

• All potential candidates will have to fill in the Council’s Application Form 
• Personal identification and academic/vocational qualifications will need to be 

verified 
• References will be obtained on the applicant  
• All prospective employees are required to undergo an interview under the 

guidelines of the Council’s Recruitment Policy. 
• When drawing up a job description for a post, managers will ensure that 

roles and duties relating to working with children or vulnerable adults are 

Page 77



 8 

clearly described in the job description over and above the standard 
safeguarding clause for all employees, and that the requirement to undergo 
DBS checks is stated. 

• All applicants for work that involves direct contact or substantial 
unsupervised contact with children or adults at risk will be subject to DBS 
checking procedures, prior to any work being offered in a paid or voluntary 
capacity 

• Existing employees that are moving into jobs which require direct contact 
with children or adults at risk will be required to undergo checks under the 
DBS checking procedure to which a satisfactory response must be received 

• The council reserves the right to request a re-check at any time during this 
period 

• Where a DBS check reveals any issues of concern (e.g. previous offences, 
warnings, cautions or Police concerns) a decision on appointment of an 
applicant must be taken by the relevant Service Manager (or higher level of 
management) in consultation with the People Services Manager. Where such 
concerns are raised in respect of an employee currently working for the 
Council, the relevant Service Manager must consult the People Services 
Manager in deciding what action to take.     

• Councillors who have not already undergone DBS checks should review and 
complete the self-declaration form at Appendix 3 and forward to People 
Services if appropriate. 

 
The Council’s scope for working directly with children or adults at risk is limited. 
DBS checks should only be sought where a Member, employee or volunteer has 
substantial, regular or unsupervised contact with children or adults at risk as part 
of their duties or responsibilities for, or on behalf of, the Council.  Guidance on 
when a DBS check is required can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dbs-check-eligible-positions-
guidance or contact a safeguarding advisor.   
 

9.0 Training 
 

All employees must complete the regular Safeguarding, CSE and Prevent training 
that is provided and refresh that knowledge at appropriate intervals identified by 
the council.   
 
Those employees working directly with children or adults at risk should complete 
training as appropriate to their role.   
 
 
 

Page 78

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dbs-check-eligible-positions-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dbs-check-eligible-positions-guidance


 9 

9.1 Induction 
 
All employees will receive a formal induction on starting work and as part of that 
welcome to the council will be expected to complete safeguarding, CSE and 
prevent training. This is a condition of their probation and confirmation of 
appointment. New employees will then refresh this knowledge along with 
colleagues at appropriate intervals identified by the council but the training 
remains available to them at any time. 
 
Safeguarding Advisors will be trained appropriate to their responsibilities and may 
need refresher training from time to time. 
 
Line managers may identify additional training needs for any of their employees 
through the Council’s appraisal system.  The level to which training is needed will 
be decided between the employee, line manager and People Services. 
 
Training will be available at any time for members and specifically made availale to 
new members included in the member development programme. 
 

10.0 Safeguarding Procedures 
 

Members, employees, volunteers and contracted service providers should be 
vigilant at all times and comply with the procedures set out below. 
 

10.1 Photography/Filming 
Our minimum requirements are: 
 

• The credentials of any photographers used should be checked prior to 
employment. 

• The photographer must wear identification at all times during an event 
• No un-supervised access to children and adults at risk or one to one photo 

sessions at events should be allowed 
• The names and photographs of children or adults at risk must not be used 

unless with the express permission (written or verbal)1 of the parent, 
guardian, carer or head teacher of the child.   

• Written or verbal permission must be granted from a child’s parent, 
guardian, carer or school before any picture of the child can be published in 
a council publication, website or social media feed or passed on for 
publication to any external media 

• Any joint events with partners where photographs or film footage is taken 
must be made the responsibility of one of those partners and the 

                                                 
1 Consent forms should be retained for as long as the photograph is in use/on file.   

Page 79



 10 

policy/procedures of that body adhered to.  It is the responsibility of the 
body taking responsibility for the photographs or film footage to confirm 
permissions and whether partners can use the images.  

• When the Council commissions professional photographers or invites the 
press to cover Council services, events and activities, the Council’s 
expectations must be made clear in relation to safeguarding. 
 

An example of photograph/video consent form is located at Appendix 6. 
  

10.2 Unofficial photographic and filming opportunities taken by hirers and 
users of council venues and services 
Our minimum requirements are: 
 
a) Parks, open spaces and nature reserves 

It is not practical to control unofficial filming and photography in parks, open 
spaces and nature reserves that are owned by the Council, if a member of the 
public has concerns they should be reported to the event organiser or directly 
to the police.   

 
b) Sports centres, community centres and civic halls 

These facilities may be visited by members of the public or hired for private 
functions.  All hirers will be made aware of the Council’s Safeguarding Policy; 
however it is the responsibility of the hirer to communicate their own 
safeguarding policy and arrangements to parents/carers. 
 

c) The Guildhall  
This facility may be hired for private functions/events e.g. civil ceremonies.  
Hirers will be responsible for communicating arrangements to guests at the 
event.  If concerns are raised then the police should be contacted.      
 

10.3 Internet and Social Media 
All employees are expected to comply with the guidelines set out in the Council’s 
ICT Policy and Procedures.  In summary; 

• Users must not create, download, upload, display or access knowingly, sites 
that contain pornography or other ‘unsuitable’ material that might be 
deemed illegal, obscene or offensive 

• Employees should take due care when emailing RESTRICTED information 
(such as the incident referral form) to an email address 

• Any emails containing RESTRICTED information must be sent from a Council 
email account and only to an email account of the same i.e. 
“@[councilname].gov.uk” 

• The use of social media sites is monitored, must be carried out with care 
and must not bring the council into disrepute.  

Page 80

https://staffroom.worcester.gov.uk/all-documents/-/document_library_display/drI3X5CuAP5x/view/8777748?_110_INSTANCE_drI3X5CuAP5x_redirect=https%3A%2F%2Fstaffroom.worcester.gov.uk%2Fall-documents%2F-%2Fdocument_library_display%2FdrI3X5CuAP5x%2Fview%2F8777743%3F_110_INSTANCE_drI3X5CuAP5x_redirect%3Dhttps%253A%252F%252Fstaffroom.worcester.gov.uk%252Fall-documents%252F-%252Fdocument_library_display%252FdrI3X5CuAP5x%252Fview%252F8775368%253F_110_INSTANCE_drI3X5CuAP5x_redirect%253Dhttps%25253A%25252F%25252Fstaffroom.worcester.gov.uk%25252Fall-documents%25253Fp_p_id%25253D110_INSTANCE_drI3X5CuAP5x%252526p_p_lifecycle%25253D0%252526p_p_state%25253Dnormal%252526p_p_mode%25253Dview%252526p_p_col_id%25253Dcolumn-1%252526p_p_col_pos%25253D1%252526p_p_col_count%25253D2


 11 

 
Websites are filtered and blocked dependent on the content of that site.  The 
Council’s Web Officer also monitors the council website and Facebook page for 
unsuitable content.   
 

11.0 Reporting and Recording Procedures 
 

If any concerns are raised about abuse of a child or adult it is the employee’s, 
Member’s, volunteer’s or contractor’s responsibility to RESPOND and REPORT their 
concerns to a safeguarding advisor as soon as possible.  Doing nothing is not an 
option.  If it is not possible to contact any of the safeguarding advisors (a list of 
key contacts is included in section 17), contact should be made to Worcestershire 
Access Centre.   
 
It is not the responsibility of any council employee, Member, volunteer or 
contractor to decide if abuse is taking or has taken place.   
  
Information the person making the referral/raising the concern will need to know 
and pass on to the safeguarding advisor or county council child/adult services 
includes: 

• Is the child/adult at immediate risk? 
• Why am I worried about this child/adult? 
• What am I worried about? 
• When did these concerns start? 
• How often are they happening? 
• Who is best placed to respond? 
• What level of service best meets this child’s/adult’s/family’s needs? 
• Has a conversation been held with the parents/carers and what has been 

their response? 
 
An incident reporting form can be found in the Staffroom (Appendix 5).  This form 
should be filled in by the person who is concerned, in as much detail as possible.  
This form can then be sent on to the safeguarding advisor to alert them of your 
concerns and allow them to take appropriate action. 

 
12.0 Information Sharing and Consent/Confidentiality 

Lawful information sharing is essential to promote and ensure that children, young 
people and adults at risk are safeguarded.  
 
Data protection and Human Rights legislation are not barriers to the sharing of 
information where this is necessary to protect children, young people and adults at 
risk.   
 

Page 81



 12 

Information should be shared with consent when appropriate. Where consent 
cannot be obtained or is refused, information may still lawfully be shared if it 
judged that it is necessary to do so to protect a child or adult from serious harm, 
or to ensure a serious crime is prevented, detected, investigated or prosecuted.  If 
you have a concern about the safety of a child or young person, do not allow the 
withholding of consent to prevent you from sharing that information. 
 
There may be occasions when the withholding of consent to information sharing by 
the parent or carer may in itself constitute a concern in respect of a child, young 
person or adult at risk’s welfare. 
 
RESTRICTED information will be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s 
Information Sharing Policy and Protocols.   The Council protocols on information 
management, data protection and information sharing can be found in the 
Staffroom.  
 
As a general rule, the consent of the parent, young person or adult at risk should 
be obtained wherever possible unless to do so would increase the risk of harm to 
them or it is considered that the young person or adult is not capable of giving 
informed consent.   
 

13.0 Internal enquiries and suspension 
The Council’s safeguarding advisor will make an immediate recommendation to the 
Service Manager about whether to suspend or transfer to other duties an 
employee accused of abuse, pending a Children Services (CS)/Adult Services (AS) 
or Police investigation.  The Council will assess all individual cases under the 
Council’s disciplinary procedure to decide whether an employee should be 
reinstated and what action should be taken irrespective of the findings of the 
CS/AS or Police enquiries unless directed by the Police not to. 
 
For further information on the Council’s disciplinary procedure click on link: 
disciplinary procedure or contact People Services. 
 

14.0 Allegations against a safeguarding advisor 
If a safeguarding advisor is subject to suspicion/allegation the Managing Director 
or other safeguarding advisor will take appropriate action as outlined above. 

 
15.0 Complaints about the safeguarding policy 

If you have a complaint about the safeguarding policy or process that has been 
followed please forward to Worcestershire County Council.  
 

Page 82

https://staffroom.worcester.gov.uk/all-documents/-/document_library_display/drI3X5CuAP5x/view/8777748?_110_INSTANCE_drI3X5CuAP5x_redirect=https%3A%2F%2Fstaffroom.worcester.gov.uk%2Fall-documents%2F-%2Fdocument_library_display%2FdrI3X5CuAP5x%2Fview%2F8777743%3F_110_INSTANCE_drI3X5CuAP5x_redirect%3Dhttps%253A%252F%252Fstaffroom.worcester.gov.uk%252Fall-documents%252F-%252Fdocument_library_display%252FdrI3X5CuAP5x%252Fview%252F8775368%253F_110_INSTANCE_drI3X5CuAP5x_redirect%253Dhttps%25253A%25252F%25252Fstaffroom.worcester.gov.uk%25252Fall-documents%25253Fp_p_id%25253D110_INSTANCE_drI3X5CuAP5x%252526p_p_lifecycle%25253D0%252526p_p_state%25253Dnormal%252526p_p_mode%25253Dview%252526p_p_col_id%25253Dcolumn-1%252526p_p_col_pos%25253D1%252526p_p_col_count%25253D2
https://staffroom.worcester.gov.uk/employment-policies-and-procedures/-/document_library_display/7mEYofrsQsvu/view_file/8544308?_110_INSTANCE_7mEYofrsQsvu_redirect=https%3A%2F%2Fstaffroom.worcester.gov.uk%2Femployment-policies-and-procedures%3Fp_p_id%3D110_INSTANCE_7mEYofrsQsvu%26p_p_lifecycle%3D0%26p_p_state%3Dnormal%26p_p_mode%3Dview%26p_p_col_id%3Dcolumn-1%26p_p_col_count%3D1


 13 

16.0 Confidentiality 
Every effort should be made to ensure that confidentiality is maintained for all 
concerned in the safeguarding of children and adults at risk.  
 
 

17.0 Support for Staff 
If an allegation is made towards another member of staff, full support will be given 
in line with the Council’s whistle blowing policy.  Contact HR for more information.   
 

18.0 Key Contacts 
 
Safeguarding Advisors for Worcester City Council: 
 

Safeguarding 
Advisor 

Role in Organisation Contact Details 

Mark Edwards Human Resources Service Manager Tel: 01905 722042 
Out of Hours No: 07775017284 
Mobile:07775017284 

Nina Warrington 
 
 

Strategic Housing Service Manager Tel: 01905 722494 
Out of Hours No: 01684 311946 
Mobile: 07867636769 or 
07887501604 

Rosey Badham Housing and Welfare Options Team 
Manager 

Tel: 01905 722272 
Out of Hours: 07412 681846 
Mobile 07412 681846 

Ann Nicholls Community Detached Team Project 
Leader 

Tel:01905 722065 
Out of Hours:07788570288 
Mobile:07788570288 

 
Safeguarding Contacts for Worcestershire County Council 
 

Contact Contact Details 
Children Services Access Centre (Family Front Door) General Number: 

01905 822666 
 
Out of Hours Number: 01905 768020 
Email: socialcare@worcestershire.gov.uk  
 

Adult Services  Phone: 01905 768053 or  
 
Adult SafeguardingTeam for advice (does not accept 
referrals): 01905 843189 
Email: socialcare@worcestershire.gov.uk  
 

Local Authority 
Designated 

Phone: 01905 846221 
Email: lado@worcestershire.gcsx 

Page 83

tel:01905
mailto:socialcare@worcestershire.gov.uk
mailto:socialcare@worcestershire.gov.uk
mailto:lado@worcestershire.gcsx


 14 

Officers (LADO)  
 
Other key contacts: 
 

Contact  Contact Details 
West Mercia Constabulary Phone: 0300 333 3000 
NSPCC 24hr Child Protection Helpline Phone: 0808 800 5000 

Text: 885858 
Email: help@nspcc.org.uk  

Childline UK Phone: 0800 1111 
Web: www.childline.co.uk 

Victim Support Phone: 0845 3030900 
Email: supportline@victimsupport.org.uk  

 

Page 84

mailto:help@nspcc.org.uk
http://www.childline.co.uk/
mailto:supportline@victimsupport.org.uk

	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Health & Safety Policy - Nomination of Lead Member for Health and Safety
	Appendix - Health and Safety Policy Final

	6 Purchase of Additional Annual Leave
	Appendix - ALPolicy Template v1.0 18122012

	7 Sickness Absence Management Policy
	Appendix - Sickness absence management policy 17.1.19

	8 Review of Decision Making on Voluntary Redundancies
	9 Annual Safeguarding Update
	Appendix - Safeguarding Policy
	Safeguarding Policy
	1.0 Introduction
	2.0 Purpose
	3.0 Scope
	4.0 Principles
	5.0 Definitions
	6.0 Roles and Responsibilities
	7.0 Legal Framework
	8.0 Recruitment
	9.0 Training
	9.1 Induction

	10.0 Safeguarding Procedures
	10.1 Photography/Filming
	10.2 Unofficial photographic and filming opportunities taken by hirers and users of council venues and services
	10.3 Internet and Social Media

	11.0 Reporting and Recording Procedures
	12.0 Information Sharing and Consent/Confidentiality
	13.0 Internal enquiries and suspension
	14.0 Allegations against a safeguarding advisor
	15.0 Complaints about the safeguarding policy
	16.0 Confidentiality
	17.0 Support for Staff
	18.0 Key Contacts



